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Name of issuer
M Distillery Holdings, Inc.

Legal status of issuer

Form
Corporation

Jurisdiction of Incorporation/Organization
Delaware

Date of organization
March 2, 2021

Physical address of issuer
2616 Weisenberger Street, Fort Worth, TX 76107

Website of issuer
www_blacklandfw.com

Name of intermediary through which the Offering will be conducted
Title3Funds.com

CIK number of intermediary
0001685995



SEC file number of intermediary
007-00083

CRD number, if applicable, of intermediary
286035

Amount of compensation to be paid to the intermediary, whether as a dollar amount or a
percentage of the Offering amount, or a good faith estimate if the exact amount is not available
at the time of the filing, for conducting the Offering, including the amount of referral and any
other fees associated with the Offering

7.0% of the amount raised in the Offering.

Any other direct or indirect interest in the issuer held by the intermediary, or any arrangement
for the intermediary to acquire such an interest
Securities in an amount equal to 2% of the total Securities sold in the Offering.

Name of qualified third party “Escrow Agent” which the Offering will utilize
North Capital Private Securities Corporation

Type of security offered
Shares of Common Stock

Target number of Securities to be offered
2,000

Price (or method for determining price)
$5.00

Target offering amount
$10,000.00

Oversubscriptions accepted:
Yes
O No

Oversubscriptions will be allocated:
O Pro-rata basis

O First-come, first-served basis
Other: at the Company’s discretion

Maximum offering amount (if different from target offering amount)
$1,235,000.00

Deadline to reach the target offering amount
December 1, 2024

NOTE: If the sum of the investment commitments does not equal or exceed the target
offering amount at the Offering deadline, no Securities will be sold in the Offering,
investment commitments will be cancelled and committed funds will be returned.



Current number of employees

15
Most recent fiscal year-end Prior fiscal year-end
(2022) (2021)
Total Assets $1,146,891.00 $1,092,333.00
Cash & Cash Equivalents $38,200.00 $97,459.00
Accounts Receivable $422.,966.00 $320,294.00
Short-term Debt $174,303.00 $97,401.00
Long-term Debt $2,160,216.00 $5,940,918.00
Revenues/Sales $2,417,101.00 $1,541,560.00
Cost of Goods Sold $909,086.00 $880,848.00
Taxes Paid $54,247.00 $11,549.96
Net Income -$723,765.00 -$1,260,593.00

The jurisdictions in which the issuer intends to offer the Securities:
Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, District Of

Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Guam, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, lowa, Kansas, Kentucky,
Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri,
Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North
Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Puerto Rico, Rhode Island,
South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Virgin Islands, U.S., Virginia,
Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin, Wyoming, American Samoa, and Northern Mariana

Islands
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Shares of Common Stock

This Form C (including the cover page and all exhibits attached hereto, the "Form C") 1s
being furnished by M Distillery Holdings, Inc., a Delaware Corporation (the "Company," as well
as references to "we," "us," or "our"), to prospective investors for the sole purpose of providing
certain information about a potential investment in Shares of Common Stock of the Company (the
"Securities").

Investors in Securities are sometimes referred to herein as "Purchasers." The Company
intends to raise at least $10,000.00 and up to $1,235,000.00 from Investors in the offering of
Securities described in this Form C (this "Offering"). The minimum amount of Securities that can
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be purchased is $500.00 per Investor (which may be waived by the Company, in its sole and
absolute discretion). The offer made hereby is subject to modification, prior to sale and withdrawal
at any time.

The rights and obligations of the holders of Securities of the Company are set forth below
in the section entitled "The Offering and the Securities--The Securities". In order to purchase
Securities, a prospective investor must complete the subscription process through the
Intermediary’s platform, which may be accepted or rejected by the Company, in its sole and
absolute discretion. The Company has the right to cancel or rescind its offer to sell the Securities
at any time and for any reason.

The Offering is being made through Title3Funds.com (the "Intermediary"). The
Intermediary will be entitled to receive 7% of the amount raised in the Offering and 2% of the
Securities sold in the Offering.

Price to Investors Service. FFeS ung Net Proceeds
Commissions (1)
Minimum
Individual Purchase $500.00 50 $500.00
Amount
Ageregate Manmum $10,000.00 $700.00 $9,300.00
Offering Amount
Aggregate
Maximum Offering $1,235,000.00 $86.450.00 $1,148,550.00
Amount

(1) The Intermediary will receive 7% of the amount raised in the Offering and 2% of the Securities sold in the Offering.
This excludes fees to the Company’s advisors, such as attorneys and accountants.

A crowdfunding investment involves risk. You should not invest any funds in this Offering
unless you can afford to lose your entire investment. In making an investment decision,
investors must rely on their own examination of the issuer and the terms of the Offering,
including the merits and risks involved. These Securities have not been recommended or
approved by any federal or state securities commission or regulatory authority.
Furthermore, these authorities have not passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this
document, The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission does not pass upon the merits of
any Securities offered or the terms of the Offering, nor does it pass upon the accuracy or
completeness of any Offering document or other materials. These Securities are offered
under an exemption from registration; however, neither the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission nor any state securities authority has made an independent determination that
these Securities are exempt from registration. The Company filing this Form C for an
offering in reliance on Section 4(a)(6) of the Securities Act and pursuant to Regulation CF (§
227.100 et seq.) must file a report with the Commission annually and post the report on its
website at www.blacklandfw.com no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’s
fiscal year. The Company may terminate its reporting obligations in the future in accordance
with Rule 202(b) of Regulation CF (§ 227.202(b)) by 1) being required to file reports under

5



Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, 2) filing at least one
annual report pursuant to Regulation CF and having fewer than 300 holders of record, 3)
filing annual reports for three years pursuant to Regulation CF and having assets equal to
or less than $10,000,000, 4) the repurchase of all the Securities sold in this Offering by the
Company or another party, or 5) the liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

The date of this Form C is December 1, 2023.

The Company has certified that all of the following statements are TRUE for the Company in
connection with this Offering:

1) Is organized under, and subject to, the laws of a State or territory of the United States or
the District of Columbia;

2) Is not subject to the requirement to file reports pursuant to section 13 or section 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d));

3) Is not an investment company, as defined in section 3 of the Investment Company Act of
1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a-3), or excluded from the definition of investment company by section
3(b) or section 3(c) of that Act (15 U.S.C. 80a-3(b) or 80a-3(c));

4) Is not ineligible to offer or sell securities in reliance on section 4(a)(6) of the Securities Act
(15 U.S.C. 77d(a)(6)) as a result of a disqualification as specified in § 227.503(a);

5) Has filed with the Commission and provided to investors, to the extent required, any
ongoing annual reports required by law during the two years immediately preceding the
filing of this Form C; and

6) Has a specific business plan, which is not to engage in a merger or acquisition with an
unidentified company or companies.

THERE ARE SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES ASSOCIATED WITH AN
INVESTMENT IN THE COMPANY AND THE SECURITIES. THE SECURITIES OFFERED
HEREBY ARE NOT PUBLICLY-TRADED AND ARE SUBJECT TO TRANSFER
RESTRICTIONS. THERE IS NO PUBLIC MARKET FOR THE SECURITIES AND ONE MAY
NEVER DEVELOP. AN INVESTMENT IN THE COMPANY IS HIGHLY SPECULATIVE.
THE SECURITIES SHOULD NOT BE PURCHASED BY ANYONE WHO CANNOT BEAR
THE FINANCIAL RISK OF THIS INVESTMENT FOR AN INDEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME
AND WHO CANNOT AFFORD THE LOSS OF THEIR ENTIRE INVESTMENT. SEE THE
SECTION OF THIS FORM C ENTITLED "RISK FACTORS."

THESE SECURITIES INVOLVE A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK THAT MAY NOT BE
APPROPRIATE FOR ALL INVESTORS.

THIS FORM C DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER IN ANY JURISDICTION IN
WHICH AN OFFER IS NOT PERMITTED.

PRIOR TO CONSUMMATION OF THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF ANY SECURITY
THE COMPANY WILL AFFORD PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS AN OPPORTUNITY TO ASK
QUESTIONS OF AND RECEIVE ANSWERS FROM THE COMPANY, AND ITS
MANAGEMENT CONCERNING THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS OFFERING
AND THE COMPANY. NO SOURCE OTHER THAN THE INTERMEDIARY HAS BEEN
AUTHORIZED TO GIVE ANY INFORMATION OR MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS
OTHER THAN THOSE CONTAINED IN THIS FORM C, AND IF GIVEN OR MADE BY ANY
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OTHER SUCH PERSON OR ENTITY, SUCH INFORMATION MUST NOT BE RELIED ON
AS HAVING BEEN AUTHORIZED BY THE COMPANY.

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS ARE NOT TO CONSTRUE THE CONTENTS OF THIS
FORM C AS LEGAL, ACCOUNTING OR TAX ADVICE OR AS INFORMATION
NECESSARILY APPLICABLE TO EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR’S PARTICULAR
FINANCIAL SITUATION. EACH INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT HIS OR HER OWN
FINANCIAL ADVISER, COUNSEL AND ACCOUNTANT AS TO LEGAL, TAX AND
RELATED MATTERS CONCERNING HIS OR HER INVESTMENT.

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY WILL HAVE TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS.
NO SECURITIES MAY BE PLEDGED, TRANSFERRED, RESOLD OR OTHERWISE
DISPOSED OF BY ANY INVESTOR EXCEPT PURSUANT TO RULE 501 OF REGULATION
CF. INVESTORS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT THEY WILL BE REQUIRED TO BEAR THE
FINANCIAL RISKS OF THIS INVESTMENT FOR AN INDEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME.

NASAA UNIFORM LEGEND

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR
OWN EXAMINATION OF THE PERSON OR ENTITY ISSUING THE SECURITIES AND
THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS INVOLVED.

THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR
STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE,
THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR
DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE
CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

SPECIAL NOTICE TO FOREIGN INVESTORS

IF THE INVESTOR LIVES OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES, IT IS THE INVESTOR’S
RESPONSIBILITY TO FULLY OBSERVE THE LAWS OF ANY RELEVANT TERRITORY
OR JURISDICTION OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN CONNECTION WITH ANY
PURCHASE OF THE SECURITIES, INCLUDING OBTAINING REQUIRED
GOVERNMENTAL OR OTHER CONSENTS OR OBSERVING ANY OTHER REQUIRED
LEGAL OR OTHER FORMALITIES. THE COMPANY RESERVES THE RIGHT TO DENY
THE PURCHASE OF THE SECURITIES BY ANY FOREIGN INVESTOR.

SPECIAL NOTICE TO CANADIAN INVESTORS
IF THE INVESTOR LIVES WITHIN CANADA, IT IS THE INVESTOR’S
RESPONSIBILITY TO FULLY OBSERVE THE LAWS OF A CANADA, SPECIFICALLY

WITH REGARD TO THE TRANSFER AND RESALE OF ANY SECURITIES ACQUIRED IN
THIS OFFERING.

NOTICE REGARDING ESCROW AGENT



NORTH CAPITAL FINANCIAL SERVICES, THE ESCROW AGENT SERVICING THE
OFFERING, HAS NOT INVESTIGATED THE DESIRABILITY OR ADVISABILITY OF AN
INVESTMENT IN THIS OFFERING OR THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREIN. THE
ESCROW AGENT MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, ENDORSEMENTS,
OR JUDGEMENT ON THE MERITS OF THE OFFERING OR THE SECURITIES OFFERED
HEREIN. THE ESCROW AGENT’S CONNECTION TO THE OFFERING IS SOLELY FOR
THE LIMITED PURPOSES OF ACTING AS A SERVICE PROVIDER.

Forward Looking Statement Disclosure

This Form C and any documents incorporated by reference herein or therein contain
forward-looking statements and are subject to risks and uncertainties. All statements other than
statements of historical fact or relating to present facts or current conditions included in this Form
C are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements give the Company's current
reasonable expectations and projections relating to its financial condition, results of operations,
plans, objectives, future performance and business. You can identify forward-looking statements
by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. These statements may
include words such as "anticipate,” "estimate," "expect," "project,” "plan,” "intend," "believe,”
"may," "should," "can have," "likely" and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection
with any discussion of the timing or nature of future operating or financial performance or other
events.

The forward-looking statements contained in this Form C and any documents incorporated
by reference herein or therein are based on reasonable assumptions the Company has made in
light of its industry experience, perceptions of historical trends, current conditions, expected future
developments and other factors it believes are appropriate under the circumstances. As you read
and consider this Form C, you should understand that these statements are not guarantees of
performance or results. They involve risks, uncertainties (many of which are beyond the
Company’s control) and assumptions. Although the Company believes that these forward-looking
statements are based on reasonable assumptions, vou should be aware that many factors could
affect its actual operating and financial performance and cause its performance to differ
materially from the performance anticipated in the forward-looking statements. Should one or
more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any of these assumptions prove incorrect
or change, the Company’s actual operating and financial performance may vary in material
respects from the performance projected in these forward-looking statements.

Any forward-looking statement made by the Company in this Form C or any documents
incorporated by reference herein or therein speaks only as of the date of this Form C. Factors or
events that could cause our actual operating and financial performance to differ may emerge from
time to time, and it is not possible for the Company to predict all of them. The Company undertakes
no obligation to update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information,
future developments or otherwise, except as may be required by law.
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ONGOING REPORTING

The Company will file a report electronically with the Securities & Exchange Commission
annually and post the report on its website, no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’s
fiscal year.

Once posted, the annual report may be found on the Company’s website at: www.blacklandfw.com

The Company must continue to comply with the ongoing reporting requirements until:

1) the Company is required to file reports under Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the
Exchange Act;

2) the Company has filed at least three annual reports pursuant to Regulation CF and has total
assets that do not exceed $10,000,000:

3) the Company has filed at least one annual report pursuant to Regulation CF and has fewer
than 300 holders of record;

4) the Company or another party repurchases all of the Securities issued in reliance on Section
4(a)(6) of the Securities Act, including any payment in full of debt securities or any
complete redemption of redeemable securities; or

5) the Company liquidates or dissolves its business in accordance with state law.

About this Form C

You should rely only on the information contained in this Form C. We have not authorized anyone
to provide you with information different from that contained in this Form C. We are offering to
sell, and seeking offers to buy the Securities only in jurisdictions where offers and sales are
permitted. You should assume that the information contained in this Form C is accurate only as of
the date of this Form C, regardless of the time of delivery of this Form C or of any sale of Securities.
Our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects may have changed since that
date.

Statements contained herein as to the content of any agreements or other document are summaries
and, thercfore, are necessarily selective and incomplete and are qualified in their entirety by the
actual agreements or other documents. The Company will provide the opportunity to ask questions
of and receive answers from the Company’s management concerning the terms and conditions of
the Offering, the Company or any other relevant matters and any additional reasonable information
to any prospective Investor prior to the consummation of the sale of the Securities.

This Form C does not purport to contain all of the information that may be required to evaluate the
Offering and any recipient hereof should conduct its own independent analysis. The statements of
the Company contained herein are based on information believed to be reliable. No warranty can
be made as to the accuracy of such information or that circumstances have not changed since the
date of this Form C. The Company does not expect to update or otherwise revise this Form C or
other materials supplied herewith. The delivery of this Form C at any time does not imply that the
information contained herein is correct as of any time subsequent to the date of this Form C. This
Form C is submitted in connection with the Offering described herein and may not be reproduced
or used for any other purpose.
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SUMMARY
The following summary is qualified in its entirety by more detailed information that may appear
clsewhere in this Form C and the Exhibits hereto. Each prospective Investor is urged to read this

Form C and the Exhibits hereto in their entirety.

M Distillery Holdings, Inc. (the "Company") is a Delaware Corporation, formed on March 3, 2021.
The Company is currently also conducting business under the d/b/a Blackland Distillery .

The Company is located at 2616 Weisenberger Street, Fort Worth, TX 76107.

The Company’s website is www.blacklandfw.com.

The information available on or through our website is not a part of this Form C. In making an
investment decision with respect to our Securities, you should only consider the information
contained in this Form C.

The Business

The distillery produces ultra-premium, grain-to-glass distilled spirits made in Texas that are then

sold to the public via distribution. The distillery also operates a tasting room open to the public
and offers tours, cocktails and bottles for sale.

The Offering
Minimum amount of Shares of Common 2.000
Stock being offered !
Total Shares of Common Stock outstanding
after Offering (if minimum amount 5,002,000
reached)
Maximum amount of Shares of Common 247,000
Stock
Total Shares of Common Stock outstanding
after Offering (if maximum amount 5,247,000
reached)
Purchase price per Security $5.00
Minimum investment amount per investor $500.00
Offering deadline December 1, 2024
Use of procecds See the description of the use of proceeds on
page 42 hereof.
- : One vote per share. See the description of the
YoungTNERD voting rights on page 50 hereof.
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Investment Incentives

The Company will provide following
investment incentives based on the investment
amount:

$500
Blackland 50ml Bottle Gift Pack (set of five
bottles)

$1.000

Two 750ml bottles of choice from core
lineup—Blackland Vodka, Gin, Bourbon,
Rye, Texas Pecan Brown Sugar Bourbon
(excludes Prairie Gold)

$10,000
Five 750ml bottles of core lien-up (Blackland

Vodka, Gin, Bourbon, Rye, Texas Pecan
Brown Sugar Bourbon) + hat (excludes
Prairie Gold)

$25,000

Six 750ml bottles of core line-up (Includes
Blackland Prairie Gold Straight Bourbon
Whiskey) + hat

$50,000

Six bottle line-up (Includes Prairic Gold
Straight Bourbon Whiskey) + hat + exclusive
Blackland Merchandise

$100.000

Six bottle line-up (Includes Prairie Gold
Straight Bourbon Whiskey) + hat + exclusive
Blackland Merchandise + Private Tour of
Distillery and flight in Barrel VIP Room with
Owner

RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to the Company’s Business and Industry

The development and commercialization of our spirits is highly competitive.

We face competition with respect to any products that we may seck to develop or commercialize
in the future. Our competitors include major companies worldwide. Many of our competitors have
significantly greater financial, technical and human resources than we have and superior expertise
in research and development and marketing spirits and thus may be better equipped than us to
develop and commercialize spirits. These competitors also compete with us in recruiting and
retaining qualified personnel and acquiring technologies. Smaller or early stage companies may
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also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large
and established companies. Accordingly, our competitors may commercialize products more
rapidly or effectively than we are able to, which would adversely affect our competitive position,
the likelihood that our spirits will achieve initial market acceptance and our ability to generate
meaningful additional revenues from our products.

We rely on other companies to provide raw materials and basic ingredients for our products.
We depend on these suppliers and subcontractors to meet our contractual obligations to our
customers and conduct our operations. Our ability to meet our obligations to our customers may
be adversely affected if suppliers or subcontractors do not provide the agreed-upon supplies or
perform the agreed-upon services in compliance with customer requirements and in a timely and
cost-effective manner. Likewise, the quality of our products may be adversely impacted if
companies to whom we delegate manufacture of major components or subsystems for our
products, or from whom we acquire such items, do not provide raw materials and/or basic
ingredients which meet required specifications and perform to our and our customers’
expectations. Our suppliers may be less likely than us to be able to quickly recover from natural
disasters and other events beyond their control and may be subject to additional risks such as
financial problems that limit their ability to conduct their operations. The risk of these adverse
effects may be greater in circumstances where we rely on only one or two subcontractors or
suppliers for a particular raw material or basic ingredient.

Quality management plays an essential role in determining and meeting customer requirements,
preventing defects, improving the Company’s products and services and maintaining the
integrity of the data that supports the safety and efficacy of our products.

Our future success depends on our ability to maintain and continuously improve our quality
management program. An inability to address a quality or safety issue in an effective and timely
manner may also cause negative publicity, a loss of customer confidence in us or our current or
future products, which may result in the loss of sales and difficulty in successfully launching new
products. In addition, a successful claim brought against us in excess of available insurance or not
covered by indemnification agreements, or any claim that results in significant adverse publicity
against us, could have an adverse effect on our business and our reputation.

One of the potential risks we face in the distribution of our products is liability resulting from
counterfeit or tainted products infiltrating the supply chain.

Because we source ingredients from various sources, we rely on various suppliers and their quality
control measures. While we have procedures to maintain the highest quality levels in our products,
we may be subject to faulty, spoiled or tainted ingredients or components in our products, which
would negatively affect our products and our customers’ experience with them and could decrease
customer demand for our products. In addition, if there are serious illness or injury due to our
products, there can be no assurance that the insurance coverage we maintain is sufficient or will
be available in adequate amounts or at a reasonable cost, or that indemnification agreements will
provide us with adequate protection.

Manufacturing or design defects, unanticipated use of our products, or inadequate disclosure
of risks relating to the use of the products can lead to injury or other adverse events.
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These events could lead to recalls or safety alerts relating to our products (either voluntary or
required by governmental authorities) and could result, in certain cases, in the removal of a product
from the market. Any recall could result in significant costs as well as negative publicity that could
reduce demand for our products. Personal injuries relating to the use of our products can also result
in product liability claims being brought against us. In some circumstances, such adverse events
could also cause delays in new product approvals. Similarly, negligence in performing our services
can lead to injury or other adverse events.

We plan to implement new lines of business or offer new products and services within existing
lines of business.

There are substantial risks and uncertainties associated with these efforts, particularly in instances
where the markets are not fully developed. In developing and marketing new lines of business
and/or new products and services, we may invest significant time and resources. Initial timetables
for the introduction and development of new lines of business and/or new products or services may
not be achieved and price and profitability targets may not prove feasible. We may not be
successful in introducing new products and services in response to industry trends or developments
in technology, or those new products may not achieve market acceptance. As a result, we could
lose business, be forced to price products and services on less advantageous terms to retain or
attract clients, or be subject to cost increases. As a result, our business, financial condition or results
of operations may be adversely affected.

In general, demand for our products and services is highly correlated with general economic
conditions.

A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from discretionary spending by individuals, which
typically falls during times of cconomic instability. Declines in economic conditions in the U.S.
or in other countries in which we operate may adversely impact our consolidated financial results.
Because such declines in demand are difficult to predict, we or the industry may have increased
excess capacity as a result. An increase in excess capacity may result in declines in prices for our
products and services.

We rely on various intellectual property rights, including trademarks in order to operate our
business.

Such intellectual property rights, however, may not be sufficiently broad or otherwise may not
provide us a significant competitive advantage. In addition, the steps that we have taken to
maintain and protect our intellectual property may not prevent it from being challenged,
invalidated, circumvented or designed-around, particularly in countries where intellectual property
rights are not highly developed or protected. In some circumstances, enforcement may not be
available to us because an infringer has a dominant intellectual property position or for other
business reasons, or countries may require compulsory licensing of our intellectual property. Our
failure to obtain or maintain intellectual property rights that convey competitive advantage,
adequately protect our intellectual property or detect or prevent circumvention or unauthorized use
of such property, could adversely impact our competitive position and results of operations. We
also rely on nondisclosure and noncompetition agreements with employees, consultants and other
parties to protect, in part, trade secrets and other proprietary rights, There can be no assurance that
these agreements will adequately protect our trade secrets and other proprietary rights and will not
be breached, that we will have adequate remedies for any breach, that others will not independently
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develop substantially equivalent proprietary information or that third parties will not otherwise
gain access to our trade secrets or other proprietary rights.

As we expand our business, protecting our intellectual property will become increasingly
important. The protective steps we have taken may be inadequate to deter our competitors from
using our proprietary information. In order to protect or enforce our patent rights, we may be
required to initiate litigation against third parties, such as infringement lawsuits. Also, these third
parties may assert claims against us with or without provocation. These lawsuits could be
expensive, take significant time and could divert management’s attention from other business
concerns. The law relating to the scope and validity of claims in the technology field in which we
operate is still evolving and, consequently, intellectual property positions in our industry are
generally uncertain. We cannot assure you that we will prevail in any of these potential suits or
that the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, would be commercially valuable.

We are subject to income taxes as well as non-income based taxes, such as payroll, sales, use,
state and federal excise, gross-receipts tax, mixed beverage taxes, value-added, net worth,
property and goods and services taxes, in both the U.S. and the United Kingdom.

Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes and other tax
liabilities. In the ordinary course of our business, there are many transactions and calculations
where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Although we believe that our tax estimates are
reasonable: (i) there is no assurance that the final determination of tax audits or tax disputes will
not be different from what is reflected in our income tax provisions, expense amounts for non-
income based taxes and accruals and (11) any material differences could have an adverse effect on
our financial position and results of operations in the period or periods for which determination is
made.

We are not subject to Sarbanes-Oxley regulations and lack the financial controls and safeguards
required of public companies.

We do not have the internal infrastructure necessary, and are not required, to complete an
attestation about our financial controls that would be required under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. There can be no assurance that there are no significant deficiencies or material
weaknesses in the quality of our financial controls. We expect to incur additional expenses and
diversion of management’s time if and when it becomes necessary to perform the system and
process evaluation, testing and remediation required in order to comply with the management
certification and auditor attestation requirements.

Changes in employment laws or regulation could harm our performance.

Various federal and state labor laws govern our relationship with our employees and affect
operating costs. These laws include minimum wage requirements, overtime pay, healthcare reform
and the implementation of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, unemployment tax
rates, workers” compensation rates. citizenship requirements, union membership and sales taxes.
A number of factors could adversely affect our operating results, including additional government-
imposed increases in minimum wages, overtime pay, paid leaves of absence and mandated health
benefits, mandated training for employees, increased tax reporting and tax payment requirements
for employees who receive tips, a reduction in the number of states that allow tips to be credited
toward minimum wage requirements, changing regulations from the National Labor Relations
Board and increased employee litigation including claims relating to the Fair Labor Standards Act.
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The Company’s business operations may be materially adversely affected by a pandemic such
as the Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak.

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China,
which spread throughout other parts of the world, including the United States. On January 30,
2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of the coronavirus disease (COVID-
19) a “Public Health Emergency of International Concern.” On January 31, 2020, U.S. Health and
Human Services Secretary Alex M. Azar Il declared a public health emergency for the United
States to aid the U.S. healthcare community in responding to COVID-19, and on March 11, 2020
the World Health Organization characterized the outbreak as a “pandemic.” COVID-19 resulted
in a widespread health crisis that adversely affected the economies and financial markets
worldwide. The Company’s business could be materially and adversely affected. The extent to
which COVID-19 impacts the Company’s business will depend on future developments, which
are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information which may emerge
concerning the severity of COVID-19 and the actions to contain COVID-19 or treat its impact,
among others. If the disruptions posed by COVID-19 or other matters of global concern continue
for an extended period of time, the Company’s operations may be materially adversely affected.

We face risks related to health epidemics and other outbreaks, which could significantly disrupt
the Company’s operations and could have a material adverse impact on us.

The outbreak of pandemics and epidemics could materially and adversely affect the Company’s
business, financial condition, and results of operations. If a pandemic occurs in areas in which we
have material operations or sales, the Company’s business activities originating from affected
areas, including sales, materials, and supply chain related activities, could be adversely affected.
Disruptive activities could include the temporary closure of facilitics used in the Company’s
supply chain processes, restrictions on the export or shipment of products necessary to run the
Company’s business, business closures in impacted areas, and restrictions on the Company’s
employees’ or consultants’ ability to travel and to meet with customers, vendors or other business
relationships. The extent to which a pandemic or other health outbreak impacts the Company’s
results will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted,
including new information which may emerge concerning the severity of a virus and the actions
to contain it or treat its impact, among others. Pandemics can also result in social, economic, and
labor instability which may adversely impact the Company’s business.

If the Company’s employees or employees of any of the Company’s vendors, suppliers or
customers become ill or are quarantined and in either or both events are therefore unable to work,
the Company’s operations could be subject to disruption. The extent to which a pandemic affects
the Company’s results will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be
predicted.

We face risks relating to public health conditions such as the COVID-19 pandemic, which could
adversely affect the Company’s customers, business, and results of operations.

Our business and prospects could be materially adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic or
recurrences of that or any other such disease in the future. Material adverse effects from COVID-
19 and similar occurrences could result in numerous known and currently unknown ways including
from quarantines and lockdowns which impair the Company’s business including: marketing and
sales efforts, supply chain, etc. If the Company purchases materials from suppliers in affected

16



areas, the Company may not be able to procure such products in a timely manner. The effects of a
pandemic can place travel restrictions on key personnel which could have a material impact on the
business. In addition, a significant outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population could
result in a widespread health crisis that could adversely affect the economies and financial markets
of many countries, resulting in an economic downturn that could reduce the demand for the
Company’s products and impair the Company’s business prospects including as a result of being
unable to raise additional capital on acceptable terms to us, if at all.

Maintaining, extending and expanding our reputation and brand image are essential to our
business success.

We seek to maintain, extend, and expand our brand image through marketing investments,
including advertising and consumer promotions, and product innovation. Increasing attention on
marketing could adversely affect our brand image. It could also lead to stricter regulations and
greater scrutiny of marketing practices. Existing or increased legal or regulatory restrictions on our
advertising, consumer promotions and marketing, or our response to those restrictions, could limit
our efforts to maintain, extend and expand our brands. Moreover, adverse publicity about
regulatory or legal action against us could damage our reputation and brand image, undermine our
customers’ confidence and reduce long-term demand for our products, even if the regulatory or
legal action is unfounded or not material to our operations.

In addition, our success in maintaining, extending, and expanding our brand image depends on our
ability to adapt to a rapidly changing media environment. We increasingly rely on social media
and online dissemination of advertising campaigns. The growing use of social and digital media
increases the speed and extent that information or misinformation and opinions can be shared.
Negative posts or comments about us, our brands or our products on social or digital media,
whether or not valid, could seriously damage our brands and reputation. If we do not establish,
maintain, extend and expand our brand image, then our product sales, financial condition and
results of operations could be adversely affected.

Product safety and quality concerns, including concerns related to perceived quality of
ingredients, could negatively affect the Company’s business.

The Company’s success depends in large part on its ability to maintain consumer confidence in
the safety and quality of all its products. The Company has rigorous product safety and quality
standards. However, if products taken to market are or become contaminated or adulterated, the
Company may be required to conduct costly product recalls and may become subject to product
liability claims and negative publicity, which would cause its business to suffer. In addition,
regulatory actions, activities by nongovernmental organizations and public debate and concerns
about perceived negative safety and quality consequences of certain ingredients in our products
may erode consumers’ confidence in the safety and quality issues, whether or not justified, and
could result in additional governmental regulations concerning the marketing and labeling of the
Company’s products, negative publicity, or actual or threatened legal actions, all of which could
damage the reputation of the Company’s products and may reduce demand for the Company’s
products.

We must correctly predict, identify, and interpret changes in consumer preferences and demand,
offer new products to meet those changes, and respond to competitive innovation.
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Consumer preferences our products change continually. Our success depends on our ability to
predict, identify, and interpret the tastes and habits of consumers and to offer products that appeal
to consumer preferences. [f we do not offer products that appeal to consumers, our sales and market
sharc will decrcase. We must distinguish between short-term fads, mid-term trends, and long-term
changes in consumer preferences. If we do not accurately predict which shifts in consumer
preferences will be long-term, or if we fail to introduce new and improved products to satisfy those
preferences, our sales could decline. In addition, because of our varied customer base, we must
offer an array of products that satisfy the broad spectrum of consumer preferences. If we fail to
expand our product offerings successfully across product categories, or if we do not rapidly
develop products in faster growing and more profitable categories, demand for our products could
decrease, which could materially and adversely affect our product sales, financial condition, and
results of operations.

In addition, achieving growth depends on our successful development, introduction, and marketing
of innovative new products and line extensions. Successful innovation depends on our ability to
correctly anticipate customer and consumer acceptance, to obtain, protect and maintain necessary
intellectual property rights, and to avoid infringing the intellectual property rights of others and
failure to do so could compromise our competitive position and adversely impact our business.

We are vulnerable to fluctuations in the price and supply of ingredients, packaging materials,
and freight.

The prices of the ingredients, packaging materials and freight are subject to fluctuations in price
attributable to, among other things, changes in supply and demand of raw materials, crops or other
commodities, fuel prices and government-sponsored agricultural programs. The sales prices to our
customers are a delivered price. Therefore, changes in our input costs could impact our gross
margins. Our ability to pass along higher costs through price increases to our customers is
dependent upon competitive conditions and pricing methodologies employed in the various
markets in which we compete. To the extent competitors do not also increase their prices,
customers and consumers may choose to purchase competing products or may shift purchases to
lower-priced private label or other value offerings which may adversely affect our results of
operations.

We use significant quantities of raw materials and other agricultural products as well as glass,
plastic, corrugated carboard and plastic packaging materials provided by third-party suppliers. We
buy from a variety of producers and manufacturers, and alternate sources of supply are generally
available. However, the supply and price are subject to market conditions and are influenced by
other factors beyond our control. We do not have long-term contracts with many of our suppliers,
and, as a result, they could increase prices or fail to deliver. The occurrence of any of the foregoing
could increase our costs and disrupt our operations.

Substantial disruption to production at our manufacturing and distribution facilities could
oceur.,

A disruption in production at our manufacturing facility could have an adverse effect on our
business. In addition, a disruption could occur at the facilities of our suppliers or distributors. The
disruption could occur for many reasons, including fire, natural disasters, weather, water scarcity,
manufacturing problems, disease, strikes, transportation or supply interruption, government
regulation, cybersecurity attacks or terrorism. Alternative facilities with sufficient capacity or
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capabilities may not be available, may cost substantially more or may take a significant time to
start production, each of which could negatively affect our business and results of operations.

Future product recalls or safety concerns could adversely impact our results of operations.

We may be required to recall certain of our products should they be mislabeled, contaminated,
spoiled, tampered with or damaged. We also may become involved in lawsuits and legal
proceedings if it is alleged that the consumption or use of any of our products causes injury, illness
or death. A product recall or an adverse result in any such litigation could have an adverse effect
on our business, depending on the costs of the recall, the destruction of product inventory,
competitive reaction and consumer attitudes. Even if a product liability or consumer fraud claim
is unsuccessful or without merit, the negative publicity surrounding such assertions regarding our
products could adversely affect our reputation and brand image. We also could be adversely
affected if consumers in our principal markets lose confidence in the safety and quality of our
products.

The consolidation of retail customers could adversely affect us.

Retail customers, such as supermarkets, warchouse clubs, and food distributors in our major
markets, may consolidate, resulting in fewer customers for our business. Consolidation also
produces larger retail customers that may seek to leverage their position to improve their
profitability by demanding improved efficiency, lower pricing, increased promotional programs,
or specifically tailored products. In addition, larger retailers have the scale to develop supply chains
that permit them to operate with reduced inventories or to develop and market their own white-
label brands. Retail consolidation and increasing retailer power could adversely affect our product
sales and results of operations. Retail consolidation also increases the risk that adverse changes in
our customers’ business operations or financial performance will have a corresponding material
and adverse effect on us. For example, if our customers cannot access sufficient funds or financing,
then they may delay, decrease, or cancel purchases of our products, or delay or fail to pay us for
previous purchases, which could materially and adversely affect our product sales, financial
condition, and operating results.

Evolving tax, environmental, food quality and safety or other regulations or failure to comply
with existing licensing, labeling, trade, food quality and safety and other regulations and laws
could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition.
Our activities or products, both in and outside of the United States, are subject to regulation by
various federal, state, provincial and local laws, regulations and government agencies, including
the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, U.S. Federal Trade Commission, the U.S. Departments
of Agriculture, Commerce and Labor, the U.S. Tax and Trade Bureau, various state alcohol
beverage control boards, as well as similar and other authorities outside of the United States,
International Accords and Treaties and others, including voluntary regulation by other bodies.
These laws and regulations and interpretations thereof may change, sometimes dramatically, as a
result of a variety of factors, including political, economic or social events. The manufacturing,
marketing and distribution of food products are subject to governmental regulation that control
such matters as food quality and safety, ingredients, advertising, product or production
requirements, labeling, import or export of our products or ingredients, relations with distributors
and retailers, health and safety, the environment, and restrictions on the use of government
programs to purchase certain of our products. We are also regulated with respect to matters such
as licensing requirements, trade and pricing practices, tax, anticorruption standards, advertising
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and claims, and environmental matters. The need to comply with new, evolving or revised tax,
environmental, food quality and safety, labeling or other laws or regulations, or new, or changed
interpretations or enforcement of existing laws or regulations, may have an adverse effect on our
business and results of operations. Further, if we are found to be out of compliance with applicable
laws and regulations in these arcas, we could be subject to civil remedies, including fines,
injunctions, termination of necessary licenses or permits, or recalls, as well as potential criminal
sanctions, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business. Even if regulatory review
does not result in these types of determinations, it could potentially create negative publicity or
perceptions which could harm our business or reputation.

Significant additional labeling or warning requirements may inhibit sales of affected products.
Various jurisdictions may seek to adopt significant additional product labeling or warning
requirements relating to the content or perceived adverse health consequences of our product(s).
If these types of requirements become applicable to our product(s) under current or future
environmental or health laws or regulations, they may inhibit sales of such products.

We are dependent on third-party suppliers for key raw materials, packaging materials and
production inputs, and our use of natural ingredients exposes us to weather and crop reliability.

The process of distilling utilizes a large amount of water.

Parts of the country have been experiencing a severe drought for the last several years. While there
are currently no restrictions on our use of water based on the drought, we cannot predict whether
such restrictions may be put in place in the future. In addition, we source a substantial portion of
our grains from Texas. This region has faced drought conditions in the past, and any future
droughts could materially and adversely affect our ability to source grains in the future.

Growth rates higher than planned or the introduction of new products requiring special
ingredients could create higher demand for ingredients greater than we can source.

Although we believe that there are alternative sources available for our key ingredients, there can
be no assurance that we would be able to acquire such ingredients from substitute sources on a
timely or cost effective basis in the event that current suppliers could not adequately fulfill orders,
which would adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We source certain packaging materials, such as bottles, labels, tops and other shipping materials
Jfrom a number of third-party suppliers and, in some cases, single-source suppliers.

Although we believe that alternative suppliers are available, the loss of any of our packaging
material suppliers could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. Our
mability to preserve the current economics of these agreements could expose us to significant cost
increases in future years.

Our spirits business uses oak barrels to age certain spirits we produce.

We compete with wine producers and other spirits producers for such oak barrels, which may be
in limited supply. If we are unable to purchase a sufficient number of oak barrels at commercially
reasonable prices, it could have a material adverse effect on the growth prospects, financial
condition and results of operations of our business.
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We are heavily dependent on our distributors.

In the United States, where substantially most of our spirits are sold, we sell spirits to independent
distributors for distribution to on-premise locations such as bars, restaurants and sports venues,
and for distribution to off-premise retail locations such as grocery and specialty stores. Although
we currently have a large network of wholesale distributors, sustained growth will require us to
maintain such relationships and enter into arrangements with additional distributors in new
markets. No assurance can be given that we will be able to maintain our current distribution
network or secure additional distributors on terms favorable to us, or at all.

Our distributors often represent competing specialty spirits brands, as well as national spirits
brands, and are to varying degrees influenced by their continued business relationships with other
brewers and distillers. Our independent distributors may be influenced by a large distiller or brand,
particularly if they rely on that distiller for a significant portion of their sales, which many
distributors do. In addition, certain of our distributors cover a substantial network of certain on-
premise retailers. While we believe that the relationships between us and our distributors are
generally good, some of these relationships are relatively new and untested and there can be no
assurance that any or all of our distributors will continue to effectively market and distribute our
products. The loss of any distributor or the inability to replace a poorly performing distributor in a
timely fashion could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Most of our distribution relationships are governed by state laws that in certain respects may
supersede the terms of any contractual relationships.

Under most of these state laws, distribution agreements for spirits can only be terminated by the
supplier after the supplier shows some type of "cause" (usually an uncured deficiency in the
distributor’s operation) or upon payment of some sort of compensation to the distributor for the
value of the distribution rights. State laws also may limit a supplier’s right to object to proposed
assignments of distribution rights and/or changes in distributor ownership. A minority of states
have enacted similar laws governing distillery-distributor relationships. Therefore, while we have
entered into contractual relationships with some of our distributors, state law in various
jurisdictions may limit our exercising our contractual termination and enforcement rights.
Additionally, our distribution relationships are susceptible to changes in state legislation that could
significantly alter the competitive environment for the beer distribution industry, which could
adversely affect the financial stability of distributors on which we rely.

We are subject to governmental regulations affecting our distillery and tasting room.

Federal, state and local laws and regulations govern the production and distribution of spirits,
including permitting, licensing, trade practices, labeling, advertising and marketing, distributor
relationships and various other matters. To operate our distillery, we must obtain and maintain
numerous permits, licenses and approvals from various governmental agencies, including the
Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau, the Food and Drug Administration, state alcohol
regulatory agencies and state and federal environmental agencies. A variety of federal, state and
local governmental authorities also levy various taxes, license fees and other similar charges and
may require bonds to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Our tasting room
and kitchen are subject to alcohol beverage control regulations that generally require us to apply
to a state authority for a license that must be renewed annually and may be revoked or suspended
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for cause at any time. These alcohol beverage control regulations relate to numerous aspects of
daily operations of our tasting room and kitchen, including minimum age of patrons and
employees, hours of operation, advertising, trade practices, inventory control and handling, storage
and dispensing of alcohol beverages. Noncompliance with such laws and regulations may cause
the Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and Trade Bureau or any particular state or jurisdiction to revoke its
license or permit, restricting our ability to conduct business, assess additional taxes, interest and
penalties or result in the imposition of significant fines.

The craft spirits business is seasonal in nature, and we are likely to experience fluctuations in
results of operations and financial condition.

Sales of craft beer/spirits products are somewhat seasonal, with the second and third quarters
historically having lower sales than the rest of the year.

The loss of our third-party distributors could impair our operations and substantially reduce
our financial results.

We continually seek to expand distribution of our products by entering into distribution
arrangements with regional bottlers or other direct store delivery distributors having established
sales, marketing and distribution organizations. Many distributors are affiliated with and
manufacture and/or distribute other beverage products. In many cases, such products compete
directly with our products. The marketing efforts of our distributors are important for our success.
If our brands prove to be less attractive to our existing distributors and/or if we fail to attract
additional distributors and/or our distributors do not market and promote our products above the
products of our competitors, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected.

Our business is substantially dependent upon awareness and market acceptance of our products
and brands.

Our business depends on acceptance by both our end consumers as well as our independent
distributors of our brands as beverage brands that have the potential to provide incremental sales
growth rather than reduce distributors” existing beverage sales. We believe that the success of our
product name brands will also be substantially dependent upon acceptance of our product name
brands. Accordingly, any failure of our brands to maintain or increase acceptance or market
penetration would likely have a material adverse affect on our revenues and financial results.

Reductions in sales of our products will have an adverse effect on our profitability and ability
to generate cash to fund our business plan.

The following factors, among others, could affect continued market acceptance and profitability
of our products:

» the introduction of competitive products;
* changes in consumer preferences among spirits;

* changes in consumer eating and snacking habits, including trends away from certain categories,
including major allergen-free, gluten-free and non-GMO products;



* changes in awareness of the social effects of farming and food production;

* changes in consumer perception about trendy spirit products;

+ changes in consumer perception regarding the healthfulness of our products;

* the level and effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts;

» any unfavorable publicity regarding spirits or similar products:

+ any unfavorable publicity regarding our brand;

« litigation or threats of litigation with respect to our products;

» the price of our products relative to other competing products;

* price increases resulting from rising commodity costs;

+ any changes in government policies and practices related to our products, labeling and markets;

« regulatory developments affecting the manufacturing, labeling, marketing or use of our products;
and

* new science or research that disputes the healthfulness of our products

Adverse developments with respect to the sale of our products would significantly reduce our net
sales and profitability and have a material adverse effect on our ability to maintain profitability
and achieve our business plan.

We currently depend exclusively on one location to manufacture all of our products.
The loss of our manufacturing plant/distillery to fulfill our orders would adversely affect our ability
to make timely deliveries of our product and would have a material adverse effect on our business.

Ingredient and packaging costs are volatile and may rise significantly, which may negatively
impact the profitability of our business.

We purchase large quantities of raw materials, including ingredients such as grain, yeasts and
enzymes. In addition, we purchase and use significant quantities of carboard, tape and labels to
package our products. In recent periods, the prices of grain have been priced above their respective
averages and we have realized some negative effects from these high prices in the form of higher
cost of goods sold and resulting lower gross profit margins. Costs of ingredients and packaging
are volatile and can fluctuate due to conditions that are difficult to predict, including global
competition for resources, weather conditions, natural or man-made disasters, consumer demand
and changes in governmental trade and agricultural programs. As such, any material upward
movement in raw materials pricing could negatively impact our margins, if we are not able to pass
these costs on to our customers, or sales if we are forced to increase our prices, which would
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.



Certain of our raw material contracts have minimum purchase commitments that could require
us to continue to purchase raw materials even if our sales have declined.

We are contractually obligated to purchase a certain amount of raw materials from our suppliers
cven if we do not have the customer demand to sustain such purchases. The purchase of raw
materials, which we are not able to convert into finished products and sell to our customers would
have a negative effect on our business and results of operations.

Our future business, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected by
reduced availability of our core ingredients.

Our ability to ensure a continuing supply of our core ingredients at competitive prices depends on
many factors beyond our control, such as the number and size of farms that grow crops, poor
harvests, changes in national and world economic conditions and our ability to forecast our
ingredient requirements. The grains used in our products are vulnerable to adverse weather
conditions and natural disasters, such as floods, droughts, frosts, earthquakes, hurricanes and
pestilences. Adverse weather conditions and natural disasters can lower crop yields and reduce
crop size and quality, which in turn could reduce the available supply of our core ingredients. If
supplies of our core ingredients are reduced or there is greater demand for such ingredients, from
us and others, we may not be able to obtain sufficient supply on favorable terms, or at all, which
could impact our ability to supply products to distributors and retailers.

Failure by our transportation providers to deliver our products on time or at all could result in
lost sales.

We currently rely upon third-party transportation providers for a significant portion of our product
shipments. Our utilization of delivery services for shipments is subject to risks, including increases
in fuel prices, which would increase our shipping costs, and employee strikes and inclement
weather, which may impact the ability of providers to provide delivery services that adequately
meet our shipping needs. We may, from time to time, change third-party transportation providers,
and we could therefore face logistical difficulties that could adversely affect deliveries. We may
not be able to obtain terms as favorable as those we receive from the third-party transportation
providers that we currently use or may incur additional costs, which in turn would increase our
costs and thereby adversely affect our operating results.

If our brand or reputation is damaged, the attractive characteristics that we offer retailers may
diminish, which could diminish the value of our business.

We are currently an attractive brand for our customers because our products are high quality and
generate a high level of retail sales at a premium margin relative to their shelf space. This is due
to both our premium price point and our sales velocity. If our brand or reputation is damaged for
any reason, consumers may no longer be willing to pay a premium price for our products and we
may no longer be able to generate a high sales velocity at our then-current prices. If we no longer
offer these characteristics, retailers may decrease their orders of our products and downgrade the
in-store placement of our products, which could have an adverse effect on our business and results
of operations.

Changes in raw material and manufacturing input prices could adversely affect our business
and results of operations.



Because pricing for the majority of our cellulose specialty fibers customers is set annually, we
typically have very limited ability to pass along fluctuations in costs to customers after pricing has
been established. Raw material costs and energy, such as wood, chemicals, oil and natural gas are
a significant operating expense. The cost of raw materials and energy can be volatile and are
susceptible to rapid and substantial increases due to factors beyond our control, such as changing
economic conditions, political unrest, instability in energy-producing nations, and supply and
demand considerations. For example, glass, a key manufacturing input, has historically had
significant price volatility. Price increases and general volatility could adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

Failure to develop new products and production technologies or to implement productivity and
cost reduction initiatives successfully may harm our competitive position.

We depend significantly on the development of commercially viable new products, product grades
and applications, as well as process technologies. free of any legal restrictions. If we are
unsuccessful in developing new products, applications and production processes in the future, our
competitive position and results of operations may be negatively affected. However, as we invest
in new technology, we face the risk of unanticipated operational or commercialization difficulties,
including an inability to obtain necessary permits or governmental approvals, the development of
competing technologies, failure of facilities or processes to operate in accordance with
specifications or expectations, construction delays, cost over-runs, the unavailability of financing,
required materials or equipment and various other factors. Likewise, we have undertaken and are
continuing to undertake initiatives to improve productivity and performance and to generate cost
savings. These initiatives may not be completed or beneficial or the estimated cost savings from
such activities may not be realized.

We may incur additional expenses and delays due to technical problems or other interruptions
at our manufacturing facilities.

Disruptions in operations due to technical problems or other interruptions such as floods or fire
would adversely affect the manufacturing capacity of our facilities. Such interruptions could cause
delays in production and cause us to incur additional expenses such as charges for expedited
deliveries for products that are delayed. Additionally, our customers have the ability to cancel
purchase orders in the event of any delays in production and may decrease future orders if delays
are persistent. Additionally, to the extent that such disruptions do not result from damage to our
physical property, these may not be covered by our business interruption insurance. Any such
disruptions may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

The potential impact of failing to deliver products on time could increase the cost of our
products.

In most instances, we guarantee that we will deliver a product by a scheduled date. If we
subsequently fail to deliver the product as scheduled, we may be held responsible for cost impacts
and/or other damages resulting from any delay. To the extent that these failures to deliver occur,
the total damages for which we could be liable could significantly increase the cost of the products;
as such, we could experience reduced profits or, in some cases, a loss for that contract.
Additionally, failure to deliver products on time could result in damage to customer relationships,
the potential loss of customers, and reputational damage which could impair our ability to attract
new customers,



Many of our customers do not commit to long-term production schedules, which makes it
difficult for us to schedule production accurately and achieve maximum efficiency of our
manufacturing capacity.

Many of our customers do not commit to firm production schedules and we continue to experience
reduced lead-times in customer orders. Additionally, customers may change production quantities
or delay production with little lead-time or advance notice. Therefore, we rely on and plan our
production and inventory levels based on our customers’ advance orders, commitments or
forecasts, as well as our internal assessments and forecasts of customer demand. The variations in
volume and timing of sales make it difficult to schedule production and optimize utilization of
manufacturing capacity. This uncertainty may require us to increase staffing and incur other
expenses in order to meet an unexpected increase in customer demand, potentially placing a
significant burden on our resources. Additionally, an inability to respond to such increases may
cause customer dissatisfaction, which may negatively affect our customers’ relationships.

Further, in order to secure sufficient production scale, we may make capital investments in advance
of anticipated customer demand. Such investments may lead to low utilization levels if customer
demand forecasts change and we are unable to utilize the additional capacity. Additionally, we
order materials and components based on customer forecasts and orders and suppliers may require
us to purchase materials and components in minimum quantities that exceed customer
requirements, which may have an adverse impact on our results of operations. Such order
fluctuations and deferrals may have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

There are general economic risks associated with the restaurant and bar/tavern industry.

Tasting Rooms are a very cyclical business. Economic recessions can lead to fewer customers as
consumers become more cost conscientious and curb spending amid unemployment and other
economic uncertainty. Increasing costs for energy can prevent customers from traveling to our
location, increase the price of packaging of products that we purchase, increase shipping and
delivery charges for our ingredients and supplies and increase the cost of heating and refrigeration.

Inflationary pressure, particularly on food costs, labor costs (especially associated with increases
in the minimum wage) and health care benefits, can negatively affect the operation of the business.
Shortages of qualified labor are sometimes experienced in certain local economies. All of these
events could have a negative effect on our business.

Our inability to successfully and sufficiently raise menu prices could result in a decline in
profitability.

We utilize menu price increases to help offset cost increases, including increased cost for
commodities, minimum wages, employee benefits, insurance arrangements, construction, utilities
and other key operating costs. If its selection and amount of menu price increases are not accepted
by consumers and reduce guest tratfic, or are insufficient to counter increased costs, our financial
results could be harmed.

The sale of alcoholic beverages at our fasting room subjects us fo additional regulations and
potential liability.

Because we sell alcoholic beverages, we are required to comply with the alcohol licensing
requirements of the federal government, state and municipal authorities where our restaurant is
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located. Alcoholic beverage control regulations require applications to state authorities and, in
certain locations, county and municipal authorities for a license and permit to sell alcoholic
beverages on the premises and to provide service for extended hours and on Sundays. Typically,
the licenses are renewed annually and may be revoked or suspended for cause at any time.
Alcoholic beverage control regulations relate to numerous aspects of the daily operations of
restaurants and bars, including minimum age of guests and employees, hours of operation,
advertising, wholesale purchasing, inventory control and handling, storage and dispensing of
alcoholic beverages. If we fail to comply with federal, state or local regulations, our licenses may
be revoked, and we may be forced to terminate the sale of alcoholic beverages. Further, growing
movements to change laws relating to alcohol may result in a decline in alcohol consumption, all
of which may negatively impact operations or result in the loss of liquor licenses.

In certain states we are subject to "dram shop" statutes.

Dram shop statutes generally allow a person injured by an intoxicated person the right to recover
damages from an establishment that wrongfully served alcoholic beverages to the intoxicated
person. Some dram shop litigation against restaurant companies has resulted in significant
judgments, including punitive damages.

Damage to our reputation could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Our reputation and the quality of our brand are critical to our business and success in existing
markets, and will be critical to our success as we enter new markets. Any incident that erodes
consumer loyalty for our brand could significantly reduce its value and damage our business.

We may be adversely affected by any negative publicity, regardless of its accuracy, including with
respect to:

» food safety concerns, including food tampering or contamination;
= food-borne illness incidents;

= the safety of the food commodities we use, particularly beef;

= guest injury;

= security breaches of confidential guest or employee information;

= employment-related claims relating to alleged employment discrimination, wage and hour
violations, labor standards or health care and benefit issues; or

= government or industry findings concerning our restaurant, restaurants operated by other food
service providers, or others across the food industry supply chain.

Also, there has been a marked increase in the use of social media platforms and similar devices,
including blogs, social media websites and other forms of internet-based communications that
provide individuals with access to a broad audience of consumers and other interested persons.
The availability of information on social media platforms is virtually immediate as is its impact.
Information posted may be adverse to our interests or may be inaccurate, each of which may harm
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our performance, prospects or business. The harm may be immediate without affording us an
opportunity for redress or correction.

We are dependent on frequent deliveries of food products that meet our specifications.

Shortages or interruptions in the supply of food products caused by problems in production or
distribution, inclement weather, unanticipated demand or other conditions could adversely affect
the availability, quality and cost of ingredients, which would adversely affect our operating results.

Security breaches of confidential guest information, in connection with our electronic
processing of credit and debit card transactions, or confidential employee information may
adversely affect our business.

Our business requires the collection, transmission and retention of large volumes of guest and
employee data, including credit and debit card numbers and other personally identifiable
information, in various information technology systems that we maintain and in those maintained
by third parties with whom we contract to provide services. The integrity and protection of that
guest and employee data is critical to us. The information, security and privacy requirements
imposed by governmental regulation are increasingly demanding. Our systems may not be able to
satisfy these changing requirements and guest and employee expectations, or may require
significant additional investments or time in order to do so. A breach in the security of our
information technology systems or those of our service providers could lead to an interruption in
the operation of our systems, resulting in operational inefficiencies and a loss of profits.
Additionally, a significant theft, loss or misappropriation of, or access to, guests’ or other
proprietary data or other breach of our information technology systems could result in fines, legal
claims or proceedings.

We are subject to risks associated with leasing property subject to long-term non-cancelable
leases.

We do not own any real property and our tasting room is located on a leased premises. Our lease
has a term of 2 years and provides for two five-year renewal options as well as for rent escalations.
We generally cannot cancel the lease. If we close the tasting room, we may still be obligated to
perform our monetary obligations under the lease. We depend on cash flows from operations to
pay our lease expenses and to fulfill our other cash needs. If our business does not generate
sufficient cash flow from operating activities we may not be able to service our lease expenses.

Increased food commodity and energy costs could decrease our operating profit margins.

Our profitability depends on our ability to anticipate and react to changes in the price and
availability of food commodities, including among other things beef, poultry, grains, dairy and
produce. Prices may be affected due to market changes, shortages or interruptions in supply due
to weather, disease or other conditions beyond our control, or other reasons. Other events could
increase commodity prices or cause shortages that could affect the cost and quality of the items we
buy or require us to further raise prices or limit our menu options. These events could impact our
pricing and negatively affect our sales and profit margins. There can be no assurance that future
cost increases can be offset by increased menu prices or that increased menu prices will be accepted
by our guests.



We are subject to many federal, state and local laws with which compliance is both costly and
complex.

The restaurant industry is subject to extensive federal, state and local laws and regulations,
including the comprchensive health care reform legislation and those relating to the preparation
and sale of food. Such laws and regulations are subject to change from time to time. The failure to
comply with these laws and regulations could adversely affect our operating results. Typically,
licenses, permits and approvals under such laws and regulations must be renewed annually and
may be revoked, suspended or denied renewal for cause at any time if governmental authorities
determine that our conduct violates applicable regulations. Ditficulties or failure to maintain or
obtain the required licenses, permits and approvals could adversely affect our business.

The ADA prohibits discrimination in employment and public accommodations on the basis of
disability.

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act, we could be required to modify our restaurant to
provide service to, or make reasonable accommodations for the employment of, disabled persons.

We are subject to the INS and must comply with federal immigration law.,
Our employment practices are subject to the requirements of the Immigration and Naturalization
Service relating to citizenship and residency.

We rely on licensees for the operation of our licensed restaurants, and we have limited control
with respect to the operations of our licensed restaurants, which could have a negative impact
on our reputation and business.

We rely on our licensees and the manner in which they operate their restaurants to develop and
promote our business. Our licensees are required to operate their restaurants according to the
specific guidelines we set forth that are essential to maintaining brand integrity and reputation as
well as in accordance with all laws and regulations applicable to our restaurants, We cannot give
assurance that there will not be differences in product and service quality, operations, marketing
or profitably or that there will be adherence to all of our guidelines and applicable laws at these
restaurants. Failure of these restaurants to operate effectively could have a negative impact on our
reputation or our business.

Our insurance may not provide adequate levels of coverage against claims.

We believe that we maintain insurance customary for businesses of our size and type. However,
there are types of losses we may incur that cannot be insured against or that we believe are not
economically reasonable to insure. Such losses could have a material adverse effect on our
business and results of operations.

Our business is subject to seasonal fluctuations.

Our business is subject to seasonal fluctuations in that our sales are typically nominally higher
during the winter months affecting the second and third quarters of the fiscal year. As a result of
these factors, our financial results for any single quarter or for periods of less than a year are not
necessarily indicative of the results that may be achieved for a full fiscal year.



Because our tasting room is in a single area, we are susceptible to economic and other trends
and developments, including adverse weather conditions, in this area.

Our financial performance is partially dependent on our tasting room located in Fort Worth, Texas.
As a result, adverse economic conditions in this areca could have a material adverse effect on our
overall results of operations. In addition, local strikes, terrorist attacks, increases in energy prices,
inclement weather or natural or man-made disasters could have a negative effect on our business.
For example, we experienced a temporary restaurant closure due to Covid 19. Temporary or
prolonged closures may occur and guest traffic may decline due to the actual or perceived effects
of future weather related events.

Because our business is seasonal, with the highest volume of net sales during the fourth quarter,
adverse events during the fourth quarter could materially affect our financial statements as a
whole.

We generally recognize our highest volume of net sales during the holiday selling season, which
occurs in the fourth quarter of our fiscal year. In anticipation of this holiday, we purchase
substantial amounts of seasonal inventory. Adverse events, such as deteriorating economic
conditions, higher unemployment, higher gas prices, public transportation disruptions, or
unanticipated adverse weather could result in lower-than-planned sales during the holiday season.
An excess of seasonal merchandise inventory could result if our net sales during the holiday selling
season fall below seasonal norms or expectations. If our fourth quarter sales results were
substantially below expectations, our financial performance and operating results could be
adversely affected by unanticipated markdowns, especially in seasonal merchandise.

The seasonality of our business places increased strain on our operations.

A disproportionate amount of our sales normally occur during our fourth quarter. If we do not
stock or are otherwise unable to source products sufficient to meet customer demand, our business
would be adversely affected. If we liquidate products, as we have in the past, we may be required
to take significant inventory markdowns or write-offs, which could reduce profits. We may
experience an increase in our shipping cost due to complimentary upgrades, split-shipments, and
additional long-zone shipments necessary to ensure timely delivery for the holiday season. If too
many customers access our Website within a short period of time due to increased holiday demand,
we may experience system interruptions that make our Website unavailable or prevent us from
efficiently fulfilling orders, which may reduce the volume of goods we sell and the attractiveness
of our products and services. In addition, we may be unable to adequately staff our fulfillment and
customer service centers during peak periods, and delivery services and other fulfillment
companies and customer service providers may be unable to meet the seasonal demand.

Our profitability may be negatively affected by inventory shrinkage.

We are subject to the risk of inventory loss and theft. We experience significant inventory
shrinkage and cannot be sure that incidences of inventory loss and thett will decrease in the future
or that the measures we are taking will effectively reduce the problem of inventory shrinkage.
Although some level of inventory shrinkage is an unavoidable cost of doing business, if we were
to experience higher rates of inventory shrinkage or incur increased security costs to combat
inventory theft, our business and results of operations could be affected adversely.

Failure to execute our opportunistic buying could adversely affect our business.
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We purchase the majority of our inventory opportunistically, with our buyers purchasing close to
need. Establishing the "treasure hunt" nature of the off-price buying experience to drive traffic to
our stores requires us to offer changing assortments of merchandise in our stores. While
opportunistic buying provides our buyers the ability to buy at desirable times and prices, in the
quantities we need and into market trends, it places considerable discretion in our buyers,
subjecting us to risks related to the pricing, quantity, nature and timing of inventory flowing to our
stores. If we are unable to provide frequent replenishment of fresh, high quality, attractively priced
merchandise in our stores, it could adversely affect traffic to our stores as well as our sales and
margins. We base our purchases of inventory, in part, on our sales forecasts. If our sales forecasts
do not match customer demand, we may experience higher inventory levels and need to markdown
excess or slow-moving inventory, leading to decreased profit margins, or we may have insufficient
inventory to meet customer demand, leading to lost sales, either of which could adversely affect
our financial performance.

Failure to execute our inventory management process could adversely affect our business.

We must also properly execute our inventory management strategies by appropriately allocating
merchandise among our stores, timely and efficiently distributing inventory to stores, maintaining
an appropriate mix and level of inventory in stores, appropriately changing the allocation of floor
space of stores among product categories to respond to customer demand and effectively managing
pricing and markdowns, and there is no assurance we will be able to do so. Failure to effectively
execute our inventory management strategies could adversely affect our performance and our
relationship with our customers.

Our business could suffer if we are unsuccessful in making, integrating, and maintaining
commercial agreements, strategic alliances, and other business relationships.

We provide e-commerce and other services to businesses through commercial agreements,
strategic alliances, and business relationships. Under these agreements, we enable sellers to offer
products or services through our websites. These arrangements are complex and require substantial
infrastructure capacity, personnel, and other resource commitments, which may limit the amount
of business we can service. We may not be able to implement, maintain, and develop the
components of these commercial relationships, which may include web services, fulfillment,
customer service, inventory management, tax collection, payment processing, hardware, content,
and third-party software, and engaging third parties to perform services. The amount of
compensation we receive under certain of our commercial agreements is partially dependent on
the volume of the other company’s sales. Therefore, if the other company’s offering is not
successful, the compensation we receive may be lower than expected or the agreement may be
terminated. Moreover, we may not be able to enter into additional commercial relationships and
strategic alliances on favorable terms. We also may be subject to claims from businesses to which
we provide these services if we are unsuccessful in implementing, maintaining, or developing these
services.

As our agreements terminate, we may be unable to renew or replace these agreements on
comparable terms, or at all. We may in the future enter into amendments on less favorable terms
or encounter parties that have difficulty meeting their contractual obligations to us, which could
adversely affect our operating results,

Our present and future e-commerce services agreements, other commercial agreements, and
strategic alliances create additional risks such as: disruption of our ongoing business, including
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loss of management focus on existing businesses; impairment of other relationships; variability in
revenue and income from entering into, amending, or terminating such agreements or
relationships; and difficulty integrating under the commercial agreements.

Our business may be adversely affected by catastrophic events and extreme or unseasonable
weather conditions.

Unforeseen events, including war, terrorism and other international conflicts, public health issues
and natural disasters such as earthquakes, hurricanes or tornadoes, whether occurring in the United
States or abroad, could disrupt our supply chain operations, international trade or result in political
or economic instability. Any of the foregoing events could result in property losses, reduce demand
for our products or make it difficult or impossible to obtain merchandise from our suppliers.

Extreme weather conditions in the areas in which our stores are located, particularly in markets
where we have multiple stores, could adversely affect our business. For example, heavy snowfall,
rainfall or other extreme weather conditions over a prolonged period might make it difficult for
our customers to travel to our stores and thereby reduce our sales and profitability. Our business
is also susceptible to unseasonable weather conditions. For example, extended periods of
unscasonably warm temperatures during the winter season or cool weather during the summer
season could render a portion of our inventory incompatible with those unseasonable conditions.
Reduced sales from extreme or prolonged unseasonable weather conditions could adversely affect
our business.

We may not timely identify or effectively respond to consumer trends or preferences, whether
involving physical retail, e-commerce retail or a combination of both retail offerings, which
could negatively affect our relationship with our customers and the demand for our products
and services.

It is difficult to predict consistently and successfully the products and services our customers will
demand. The success of our business depends in part on how accurately we predict consumer
demand, availability of merchandise, the related impact on the demand for existing products and
the competitive environment, whether for customers purchasing products at our stores and clubs,
through our e-commerce businesses or through the combination of both retail offerings. A critical
piece of identifying consumer preferences involves price transparency, assortment of products,
customer experience and convenience. These factors are of primary importance to customers and
they continue to increase in importance, particularly as a result of digital tools and social media
available to consumers and the choices available to consumers for purchasing products online, at
physical locations or through a combination of both retail offerings. Failure to timely identify or
effectively respond to changing consumer tastes, preferences (including the key factors described
above) and spending patterns, whether for our physical retail offerings, e-commerce offerings or
through a combination of these retail offerings, could negatively affect our relationship with our
customers and the demand for our products and services.

Decreases in discretionary consumer spending may have an adverse effect on us.

A substantial portion of the products and services we offer are products or services that consumers
may view as discretionary items rather than necessities. As a result, our results of operations are
sensitive to changes in macroeconomic conditions that impact consumer spending, including
discretionary spending. Difficult macroeconomic conditions, particularly high levels of
unemployment, also impact our customers’ ability to obtain consumer credit. Other factors,
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including consumer confidence, employment levels, interest rates, tax rates, consumer debt levels,
and fuel and energy costs could reduce consumer spending or change consumer purchasing habits.
Slowdowns in the U.S. or global economy. or an uncertain economic outlook, could adversely
affect consumer spending habits and our results of operations.

If we do net continue to source new products, our ability to compete will be undermined, and
we may be unable to implement our business plan.

Our ability to compete in the direct marketing industry and to expand into the traditional retail
environment depends to a great extent on our ability to develop or acquire new innovative products
under particular brands and to complement these products with related families of products under
those brands. If we do not source new products as our existing products mature through their
product life cycles, or if we do not develop related families of products under our brands, we will
not be able to implement our business plan, and the value of your investment may decrease.

Our business and results of operations may be adversely affected if we are unable to maintain
our customer experience or provide high quality customer service.

The success of our business largely depends on our ability to provide superior customer experience
and high quality customer service, which in turn depends on a variety of factors, such as our ability
to continue to provide a reliable and user-friendly website interface for our customers to browse
and purchase our products, reliable and timely delivery of our products, and superior after sales
services. Our sales may decrease if our website services are severely interrupted or otherwise fail
to meet our customer requests. Should we or our third-party delivery companies fail to provide our
product delivery and return services in a convenient or reliable manner, or if our customers are not
satisfied with our product quality, our reputation and customer loyalty could be negatively
affected. In addition, we also depend on our call center and online customer seryice representatives
to provide live assistance to our customers. If our call center or online customer service
representatives fail to satisfy the individual needs of customers, our reputation and customer
loyalty could be negatively affected and we may lose potential or existing customers and
experience a decrease In sales. As a result, 1f we are unable to continue to maintain our customer
experience and provide high quality customer service, we may not be able to retain existing
customers or attract new customers, which could have an adverse effect on our business and results
of operations.

We depend upon designers, vendors and other sources of merchandise, goods and services.
Our business could be affected by disruptions in, or other legal, regulatory, political or economic
issues associated with, our supply network. Our relationships with established and emerging
designers have been a significant contributor to our past success. Our ability to find qualified
vendors and access products in a timely and efficient manner is ofien challenging, particularly with
respect to goods sourced outside the United States. Our procurement of goods and services from
outside the United States is subject to risks associated with political or financial instability, trade
restrictions, tariffs, currency exchange rates. transport capacity and costs and other factors relating
to foreign trade. In addition, our procurement of all our goods and services is subject to the effects
of price increases, which we may or may not be able to pass through to our customers. All of these
factors may affect our ability to access suitable merchandise on acceptable terms, are beyond our
control and could negatively affect our business and results of operations.
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Our advertising and marketing efforts may be costly and may not achieve desired results.

We incur substantial expense in connection with our advertising and marketing efforts. Although
we target our advertising and marketing efforts on current and potential customers who we believe
are likely to be in the market for the products we sell, we cannot assure you that our advertising
and marketing efforts will achieve our desired results. In addition, we periodically adjust our
advertising expenditures in an effort to optimize the return on such expenditures. Any decrease in
the level of our advertising expenditures, which may be made to optimize such return could
adversely affect our sales.

We may be required to collect sales tax on our direct marketing operations.

With respect to the direct sales, sales or other similar taxes are collected primarily in states where
we have retail stores, another physical presence or personal property. However, various states or
foreign countries may seek to impose sales tax collection obligations on out-of-state direct mail
companies. A successful assertion by one or more states that we or one or more of our subsidiaries
should have collected or should be collecting sales taxes on the direct sale of our merchandise
could have an adverse effect on our business.

Government regulation is evolving and unfavorable changes could harm our business.

We are subject to general business regulations and laws, as well as regulations and laws
specifically governing the Internet, e-commerce, electronic devices, and other services. Existing
and future laws and regulations may impede our growth. These regulations and laws may cover
taxation, privacy, data protection, pricing, content, copyrights, distribution, mobile
communications, electronic device certification, electronic waste, energy consumption,
environmental regulation, electronic contracts and other communications, competition, consumer
protection, web services, the provision of online payment services, information reporting
requirements, unencumbered Internet access to our services, the design and operation of websites,
the characteristics and quality of products and services, and the commercial operation of unmanned
aircraft systems. It is not clear how existing laws governing issues such as property ownership,
libel, and personal privacy apply to the Internet, e-commerce, digital content, and web services.
Jurisdictions may regulate consumer-to-consumer online businesses, including certain aspects of
our seller programs. Unfavorable regulations and laws could diminish the demand for our products
and services and increase our cost of doing business.

Changes in federal, state or local laws and regulations could increase our expenses and
adversely affect our results of operations.

Our business is subject to a wide array of laws and regulations. The current political environment,
financial reform legislation, the current high level of government intervention and activism and
regulatory reform may result in substantial new regulations and disclosure obligations and/or
changes in the interpretation of existing laws and regulations, which may lead to additional
compliance costs as well as the diversion of our management’s time and attention from strategic
initiatives. If we fail to comply with applicable laws and regulations we could be subject to legal
risk, including government enforcement action and class action civil litigation that could disrupt
our operations and increase our costs of doing business. Changes in the regulatory environment
regarding topics such as privacy and information security, product safety or environmental
protection, including regulations in response to concerns regarding climate change, collective
bargaining activities, minimum wage laws and health care mandates, among others, could also
cause our compliance costs to increase and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
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Our profitability is vulnerable to cost increases, inflation and energy prices.

Future increases in our costs, such as the cost of merchandise, shipping rates, freight and fuel costs,
and store occupancy costs, may reduce our profitability. The minimum wage has increased or is
scheduled to increase in multiple states and local jurisdictions, and there is a possibility Congress
will increase the federal minimum wage. These cost changes may be the result of inflationary
pressures, which could further reduce our sales or profitability. Increases in other operating costs,
including changes in energy prices, wage rates and lease and utility costs, may increase our costs
of sales or operating expenses and reduce our profitability.

Risks Related to the Securities

The Securities will not be freely tradable until one year from the initial purchase date. Although
the Securities may be tradable under federal securities law, state securities regulations may
apply and each Purchaser should consult with his or her attorney.

You should be aware of the long-term nature of this investment. There is not now and likely will
not be a public market for the Securities. Because the Securities have not been registered under
the Securities Act or under the securities laws of any state or non-United States jurisdiction, the
Securities have transfer restrictions and cannot be resold in the United States except pursuant to
Rule 501 of Regulation CF. It is not currently contemplated that registration under the Securities
Act or other securities laws will be effected. Limitations on the transfer of the Securities may also
adversely affect the price that you might be able to obtain for the Securities in a private sale.
Purchasers should be aware of the long-term nature of their investment in the Company. Each
Purchaser in this Offering will be required to represent that it is purchasing the Securities for its
own account, for investment purposes and not with a view to resale or distribution thercof.

Neither the Offering nor the Securities have been registered under federal or state securities
laws, leading to an absence of certain regulation applicable to the Company.

No governmental agency has reviewed or passed upon this Offering, the Company or any
Securities of the Company. The Company also has relied on exemptions from securities
registration requirements under applicable state securities laws. Investors in the Company,
therefore, will not receive any of the benefits that such registration would otherwise provide.
Prospective investors must therefore assess the adequacy of disclosure and the fairness of the terms
of this Offering on their own or in conjunction with their personal advisors.

No Guarantee of Return on Investment

There is no assurance that a Purchaser will realize a return on its investment or that it will not lose
its entire investment. For this reason, each Purchaser should read the Form C and all Exhibits
carefully and should consult with its own attorney and business advisor prior to making any
investment decision.

A majority of the Company is owned by a small number of owners.

Prior to the Offering the Company’s current owners of 20% or more beneficially own up to 100%
of the Company. Subject to any fiduciary duties owed to our other owners or investors under
Delaware law, these owners may be able to exercise significant influence over matters requiring
owner approval, including the election of directors or managers and approval of significant
Company transactions, and will have significant control over the Company’s management and
policies. Some of these persons may have interests that are different from yours. For example,
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these owners may support proposals and actions with which you may disagree. The concentration
of ownership could delay or prevent a change in control of the Company or otherwise discourage
a potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control of the Company, which in turn could reduce
the price potential investors are willing to pay for the Company. In addition, these owners could
use their voting influence to maintain the Company’s existing management, delay or prevent
changes in control of the Company, or support or reject other management and board proposals
that are subject to owner approval.

The Company has the right to extend the Offering deadline.

The Company may extend the Offering deadline beyond what is currently stated herein. This
means that your investment may continue to be held in escrow while the Company attempts to
raise the Minimum Amount even after the Offering deadline stated herein is reached. Your
investment will not be accruing interest during this time and will simply be held until such time as
the new Offering deadline is reached without the Company receiving the Minimum Amount, at
which time it will be returned to you without interest or deduction, or the Company receives the
Minimum Amount, at which time it will be released to the Company to be used as set forth herein.
Upon or shortly after release of such funds to the Company, the Securities will be 1ssued and
distributed to you.

The Company has the right to end the Offering early.

The Company may also end the Offering early. If the Offering reaches the Minimum Amount after
30 calendar days but before the Offering deadline, the Company can end the Offering with five
business days’ notice. This means your failure to participate in the Offering in a timely manner,
may prevent you {from being able to participate — it also means the Company may limit the amount
of capital it can raise during the Offering by ending it early.

Your ownership of the shares of stock will be subject to dilution.

Owners of do not have preemptive rights. If the Company conducts subsequent Offerings of or
Securities convertible into , issues shares pursuant to a compensation or distribution reinvestment
plan or otherwise issues additional shares, investors who purchase shares in this Offering who do
not participate in those other stock i1ssuances will experience dilution in their percentage ownership
of the Company’s outstanding shares. Furthermore, shareholders may experience a dilution in the
value of their shares depending on the terms and pricing of any future share issuances (including
the shares being sold in this Offering) and the value of the Company’s assets at the time of
issuance.

The Securities will be equity interests in the Company and will not constitute indebtedness.

The Securities will rank junior to all existing and future indebtedness and other non-equity claims
on the Company with respect to assets available to satisfy claims on the Company, including in a
liquidation of the Company. Additionally, unlike indebtedness, for which principal and interest
would customarily be payable on specified duc dates, there will be no specified payments of
dividends with respect to the Securities and dividends are payable only if, when and as authorized
and declared by the Company and depend on, among other matters, the Company’s historical and
projected results of operations, liquidity, cash flows, capital levels, financial condition, debt
service requirements and other cash needs, financing covenants, applicable state law, federal and
state regulatory prohibitions and other restrictions and any other factors the Company’s board of
directors deems relevant at the time. In addition, the terms of the Securities will not limit the
amount of debt or other obligations the Company may incur in the future. Accordingly, the
Company may incur substantial amounts of additional debt and other obligations that will rank
senior to the Securities.
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There can be no assurance that we will ever provide liquidity to Purchasers through either a
sale of the Company or a registration of the Securities.

There can be no assurance that any form of merger, combination, or sale of the Company will take
place, or that any merger, combination, or sale would provide liquidity for Purchasers.
Furthermore, we may be unable to register the Securities for resale by Purchasers for legal,
commercial, regulatory, market-related or other reasons. In the event that we are unable to effect
a registration, Purchasers could be unable to sell their Securities unless an exemption from
registration is available.

The Company does not anticipate paying any cash dividends for the foresecable future.

The Company currently intends to retain future earnings, if any, for the foreseeable future, to repay
indebtedness and to support its business. The Company does not intend in the foreseeable future
to pay any dividends to holders of its shares of .

In addition to the risks listed above, businesses are ofien subject to risks not foreseen or fully
appreciated by the management. It is not possible to foresee all risks that may affect us. Moreover,
the Company cannot predict whether the Company will successfully effectuate the Company’s
current business plan. Each prospective Purchaser is encouraged to carefully analyze the risks and
merits of an investment in the Securities and should take into consideration when making such
analysis, among other, the Risk Factors discussed above.

Investors will not be entitled to any inspection or information rights other than those required
by law.

Investors will not have the right to inspect the books and records of the Company or to receive
financial or other information from the Company, other than as required by law. Other security
holders of the Company may have such rights. Regulation CF requires only the provision of an
annual report on Form C and no additional information. Additionally, there are numerous methods
by which the Company can terminate annual report obligations, resulting in limited to no
information rights, contractual, statutory or otherwise, owed to Investors. This lack of information
could put Investors at a disadvantage in general and with respect to other security holders,
including certain security holders who have rights to periodic financial statements and updates
from the Company such as quarterly unaudited financials, annual projections and budgets, and
monthly progress reports, among other things. In addition, the Company is not currently subject
to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. Therefore, Investors may not have access to
information to which they would have access if the investment were made in a publicly held
company whose offering was issued under the Exchange Act, and who is subject to the reporting
regulations provided by the Exchange Act.

You should be aware of the long-term nature of this investment.

There is not now, and may never be, a public market for the Securities. Because the Securities are
being sold under exemptions to registration, and therefore have not been registered under the
Securities Act or under the securities laws of any state or non-United States jurisdiction, the
Securities may have certain transfer restrictions. Our bylaws also place additional transfer
restrictions on the Shares. [t is not currently contemplated that registration under the Securities
Act or other securities laws will occur for the Securities. Limitations on the transfer of the
Securities may also adversely affect the price that you might be able to obtain for the Securities in
a sale in the future. Investors in the Company, therefore, will not receive any of the benefits that
such registration would otherwise provide. You must assess the adequacy of disclosure and the
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fairness of the terms of this Offering on your own or in conjunction with your personal advisors.
You should be aware of the long-term nature of your investment in the Company.

There is no present market for the Securities and we have arbitrarily set the price.

We have arbitrarily set the price of the Securities with reference to the general status of the
securities market and other relevant factors. The Offering price for the Securities should not be
considered an indication of the actual value of the Securities and is not based on our net worth or
prior earnings. We cannot assure you that the Securities could be resold by you at the Offering
price or at any other price.

The Company has the right to conduct multiple closings during the Offering.

If the Company meets certain terms and conditions an intermediate close of the Offering can occur,
which will allow the Company to draw down on a portion of the proceeds of the Offering
committed and captured during the relevant period. The Company may choose to continue the
Offering thereafter. Purchasers should be mindful that this means they can make multiple
investment commitments in the Offering, which may be subject to different cancellation rights.
For example, if an intermediate close occurs and later a material change occurs as the Offering
continues, Purchasers previously closed upon will not have the right to re-confirm their investment
as it will be deemed completed.

Material changes to the Offering will cancel pending investments unless you reconfirm your
commitment.

Material changes to an offering include but are not limited to: a change in minimum offering
amount, change in the security price (except as otherwise described in this Form C with respect to
participation in tranches with at discounted prices), change in management, material change to
financial information, etc. If an issuer makes a material change to the offering terms or other
information disclosed Investors will be given five (5) business days to reconfirm their investment
commitment. [f Investors do not reconfirm, their investment will be cancelled and the funds will
be returned.

THE SECURITIES OFFERED INVOLVE A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK AND MAY RESULT
IN THE LOSS OF YOUR ENTIRE INVESTMENT. ANY PERSON CONSIDERING THE
PURCHASE OF THESE SECURITIES SHOULD BE AWARE OF THESE AND OTHER
FACTORS SET FORTH IN THIS FORM C AND SHOULD CONSULT WITH HIS OR HER
LEGAL, TAX AND FINANCIAL ADVISORS PRIOR TO MAKING AN INVESTMENT IN
THE SECURITIES. THE SECURITIES SHOULD ONLY BE PURCHASED BY PERSONS
WHO CAN AFFORD TO LOSE ALL OF THEIR INVESTMENT.

BUSINESS

Description of the Business

The distillery produces ultra-premium, grain-to-glass distilled spirits made in Texas that are then
sold to the public via distribution. The distillery also operates a tasting room open to the public

and offers tours, cocktails and bottles for sale.

Business Plan
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Since its inception in 2021, the Blackland team has constructed the distillery from the ground up,
including a production floor, barrel room, and complete manufacturing line, as well as an award
winning tasting room in the heart of Fort Worth. In 2018, through our predecessor entity, Blackland
began formulating recipes and distillation methods for its ultra-premium vodka, gin, bourbon, rye
whiskey, and Texas Pecan Brown Sugar Bourbon, along with Prairie Gold Texas Straight Bourbon
(2023), Straight Rye (2024) and Triticale Whiskey (2025). Additionally, Blackland has produced
and is currently aging over four hundred (400) barrels of whiskey on-site. Blackland is currently
distributed throughout Texas, Oklahoma, New Mexico, Arkansas, Arizona, Kansas, Missouri,
Wahington and Mississippi by Southern Glazer’s Wine & Spirits. Blackland Bourbon and
Blackland Texas Pecan Brown Sugar Bourbon are also distributed in the United Kingdom by KBE
Drinks. Blackland is also distributed in Georgia by Savannah Distribution. Unlike most traditional
distilleries, Blackland produces and distributes six distinct spirits, resulting in a wide range of sales
and customer demographics that vary in terms of on and off-premise, target markets, geography,
and several other factors. The diversity of the brand allows Blackland to target and serve different
customer segments, while growing overall brand awareness to a much wider audience. Part of
Blackland’s quick growth and success is its use state-of-the-art technology in the distillation
process — such as cutting-edge 1Stills manufactured and imported from the Netherlands — resulting
in very clean spirits with a soft finish. Blackland is focused on quality — from the base grains, to
spirits produced, to the bottle, the label, and tasting room. Blackland’s award-winning packaging
and price-point are the underlying foundation for why its spirits never sit on shelves. From its
striking packaging and ultra-premium spirits to its sophisticated tasting room, Blackland has won
its fair share of hardware, including some of the highlighted honors below. Gold (Texas Pecan
Brown Sugar Bourbon) | ASCOT Awards | 2022 Gold (Gin) | ASCOT Awards | 2022 Best
Distillery | Fort Worth Weekly | 2022 Gin Sponsor | PGA Charles Schwab Challenge | 2021-2022
Top 10 Best New Craft Distillery | USA Today | 2021 Gold (Brand Identity) | American Distilling
Institute Craft Spirit Awards | 2020 Gold (Vodka) | American Distilling Institute Craft Spirit
Awards | 2020 Double Gold (Rye Whiskey & Vodka) | Proof Awards | 2020 Fort Worth Bar of the
Year | CultureMap TasteMaker Awards | 2020

History of the Business

We reorganized the business and its corporate structure in 2021 in preparation of a capital raise.
The original corporate entity, M Distillery, Inc. was created in 2014 as a Texas corporation, though
the company did not begin conducting business until January 2018. The tasting room at the
distillery opened in March 2019. The purpose of the reorganization was to convert the original
corporation to an LLC in Delaware for cwrrent and future tax purposes and concurrently create
subsidiaries, again for tax purposes, as well as create a holding company for investment/investors.
The investor entity herein, M Distillery Holdings, Inc. was created in 2021 as a corporation in
Delaware. In addition to the formation of M Distillery Holdings, Inc. in 2021, the other entities
created at the same time were Maximus Distillery Holdings, Inc, a Texas corporation, M Distillery,
Sub II, LLC, a Texas LLC, M Distillery Sub I, a Texas LLC and again, the conversion of M
Distillery, Inc. to M Distillery, LLC.

The Company’s Products and/or Services
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Product / Service

Description

Current Market

Blackland Vodka

100% red winter wheat vodka
distilled in Texas

Liquor Stores, Bars,
Restaurants, Hotels,
Individuals

Blackland Gin

12 Botanicals used to create a
well-balanced, soft, short
finish Gin with broad appeal.

Liquor Stores, Bars,
Restaurants, Hotels,
Individuals

Blackland Bourbon Whiskey

An 83 proof, soft bourbon.

Liquor Stores, Bars,
Restaurants, Hotels,
Individuals

Blackland Rye Whiskey

A spicier whiskey, but also 83
proof for a softer finish.

Liquor Stores, Bars,
Restaurants, Hotels,
Individuals

Blackland Texas Pecan
Brown Sugar Bourbon

Flavored bourbon with brown
sugar, finished by steeping in
pecans.

Liquor Stores, Bars,
Restaurants, Hotels,
Individuals

Blackland Prairie Gold
Straight Bourbon Whiskey

Our signature, grain-to-glass
Bourbon 100 Proof: 80%
Corn and 20% Triticale.

Liquor Stores, Bars,
Restaurants, Hotels,
Individuals

We plan to release our straight Triticale Whiskey in 2024 and our 5 year Straight Whiskey in 2025.

We have a national distribution agreement with Southern Glazer’s Wine & Spirits (SGWS) and
we have other distribution partners in states and countries not covered by SGWS.

Competition

The Company’s primary competitors are Texas distilleries and Kentucky distilleries in the
premium to ultra-premium whiskey category. .

Packaging and quality of spirits are our best differentiators. The bottle is the brand and what sets
us apart on retail and on-premise shelves. We use state-of-the-art distillation methods and
equipment to produce elevated, clean, soft spirits that can compete with local, regional, national
and global brands. We are priced competitively to ensure there are no barriers to entry for new
placements.

Supply Chain and Customer Base

Raw materials essential to our businesses are purchased worldwide in the ordinary course of
business from numerous suppliers. In general, these materials are available from multiple sources.
We have successfully secured the materials necessary to meet our requirements where there have
been short-term imbalances between supply and demand, but generally at higher prices than those
historically paid.
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The Company’s customers are primarily in the consumer, small and medium sized business, and
cducation markets.

Intellectual Property

Trademarks*
Application
or Goods / . Registration
Registration Services Mark File Date Date Country
#
Distilled Blackland December 21, | December 7,
6383769 Spirits Distillery 2017 2021 USA

The above trademark is owned by M Distillery, Inc., a subsidiary of the Company. Please refer to
the Subsidiaries section of this Form C below.

Governmental/Regulatory Approval and Compliance

The Company is dependent on the following regulatory approvals:

Line of Business L L0 genistes Grant Date
Agency Approval Date

Distillery TTB DSP Permit April 29, 2023 July 21, 2023

Distillery TABC TABC Permit July 1, 2023 July 15, 2023

Every distillery is required to hold a distilled spirits permit to operate in the United States. We are
also required to have a TABC permit in Texas since the company is located in Texas and produces
spirits in Texas. The DSP last in perpetuity with no fees required as long as the distillery stays in
compliance with mandatory reporting and excise tax payments. The TABC also requires reporting,
excise tax payments and an annual fee.

Litigation

There are no existing legal suits pending, or to the Company’s knowledge, threatened, against the
Company.

Other
The Company’s principal address is 2616 Weisenberger Street, Fort Worth, TX 76107
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The Company conducts business in Texas, Arizona, New Mexico, Washington, Kansas, Missouri,
Oklahoma, Mississippi, Arkansas, Georgia and the United Kingdom.

Subsidiaries

The Company has the following subsidiaries:

Name Entitv Tvbe Location of Date of % Owned by
yyp Formation Formation Company
NV Limited
M Distillery Sub Liability Texas March 2, 2021 100%
II, LLC .
Company
.. Limited 100% owned by
M D‘“g‘fg’“ Sub Lty ability Texas March 2, 2021 | M Distillery Sub
Company II, LLC
Limited 100% owned by
M Distillery, LLC |  Liability Texas March 25,21 | M Distillery Sub
Company I, LLC

Because this Form C focuses primarily on information concerning the Company rather than the
industry in which the Company operates, potential Purchasers may wish to conduct their own
separate investigation of the Company’s industry to obtain greater insight in assessing the
Company’s prospects.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The following table lists the usc of proceeds of the Offering if the Minimum Amount and
Maximum Amount are raised.
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% of Minimum Amount if % of Maximum Amount if
Use of Proceeds Proceeds Minimum Proceeds Maximum
Raised Raised Raised Raised
Intermediary 7.00% $700 7.00% $86,450
Fees
Campaign
marketing
exXpenses or 0.00% $0 6.07% $75.,000
related
reimbursement
Estmated 0.00% $0 0.81% $10,000
Attorney Fees
Estimated
Accountant/Audi 0.00% $0 0.49% $6.000
tor Fees
Genaral 33.00% 33200 29.3% $362,500
Marketing
Manufacturing 50.00% $5.000 24.29% $300.000
Haulpment 0.00% $0 3.24% $40,000
Purchases
Future Wages 10.00% $1.,000 16.19% $200.000
Bepmmmential 0.00% $0 4.05% $50.000
Debt
Gengral 0.00% $0 8.56% $105.050
Working Capital 2R ekl ’
Total 100.00% $10,000 100.00% $1.235,000

The Use of Proceeds chart is not inclusive of fees paid for use of the Form C generation system,
payments to financial and legal service providers, and escrow related fees, all of which were
incurred in preparation of the campaign and are due in advance of the closing of the campaign.
The Company does have discretion to alter the use of proceeds as set forth above. The Company
may alter the use of proceeds under the following circumstances: Overall sales and growth,
marketing needs and resources in new and existing markets and online growth and marketing
needs,

DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES

Directors & Officers
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The directors and officers of the Company are listed below along with all positions and offices
held at the Company and their principal occupation and employment responsibilities for the past
three (3) years and their educational background and qualifications.

Name
Petros Markus Kypreos

All positions and offices held with the Company and date such position(s) was held with start
and ending dates

Director, President and Secretary: Inception to Present

Principal occupation and employment responsibilities during at least the last three (3) years
with start and ending dates

Prior to the company converting from a C Corporation to an LLC, Petros Markus Kypreos was the
President and Owner/Operator of M Distillery, Inc. from January 1, 2018 to April, 2021. Mr.
Kypreos oversaw the operations of the distillery including but not limited to production, marketing
and sales, the tasting room, distribution and G&A. Mr. Kypreos has had the same role with M
Distillery, LLC since the company was reorganized in 2021 to the present.

Oversee management of the distillery including production/manufacturing, sales, marketing, G&A
and the tasting room.

Education

B.A. Political Science/RTF/English--University of Texas at Austin (1998 & 2000) M.Ed. Higher
Education Administration--University of Texas at Austin (2006) JD--Pepperdine University
School of Law (2003); State Bar of Texas (2004); License to Practice before the US Supreme
Court (2008) & Fifth Circuit Cour of Appeals (2008) Culinary Arts Degree--Culinary School of
Fort Worth (2010)

Indemnification

Indemnification is authorized by the Company to directors, officers or controlling persons acting
in their professional capacity pursuant to Texas law. Indemnification includes expenses such as
attorney’s fees and, in certain circumstances, judgments, fines and settlement amounts actually
paid or incurred in connection with actual or threatened actions, suits or proceedings involving
such person, except in certain circumstances where a person is adjudged to be guilty of gross
negligence or willful misconduct, unless a court of competent jurisdiction determines that such
indemnification is fair and reasonable under the circumstances.

Employees
The Company currently has 15 employees in Texas.
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CAPITALIZATION AND OWNERSHIP

Capitalization

The Company has issued the following outstanding securities:

Type of security

Common Stock

Amount outstanding 5,000,000
Voting Rights Yes
Anti-Dilution Rights No

How this security may limit, dilute or
qualify the Securities issued pursuant to
Regulation CF

The Securities issued pursuant to Regulation
CF will be subject to dilution if/when the
Company issues or sells new shares of
Common Stock or when the convertible
instruments (e.g., Convertible Notes) convert
into shares of Common Stock

Percentage ownership of the Company by
the holders of such securities (assuming
conversion prior to the Offering if
convertible securities).

100%

The Securities being issued in this Offering are Shares of Common Stock and are the same
securities as the Common Stock listed above. There are no differences between these securities.

The Company has the following debt outstanding:

Interest rate and payment schedule

Type of debt Bank loan
Name of creditor SBA
Amount outstanding $525,000.00
3.75%;

Monthly payment of $2,501.00

Amortization schedule

N/A

Describe any collateral or security

None

Maturity date

May 28, 2050

Other material terms

N/A
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Type of debt Convertible Promissory Notes

Name of creditor Various Investors
Amount outstanding $800,000.00
Interest rate and payment schedule 5%
Amortization schedule N/A
Describe any collateral or security None
Maturity date June 2024

The Notes have a 20% discount and valuation
cap of $24,000,000. The Notes automatically
convert upon an equity financing round in
which a total of $1.5M or more is raised.

Other material terms

The Company has conducted the following offerings in the past 3 years.

Exemption
from
Security Number Money Use of Offering Registration

Type Sold Raised Proceeds Date Used or
Public

Offering

Convertible G ene_ral March — June Section
Notes 14 $800,000 Worl;mg 2021 A(a)(2)

Capital
Valuation

Based on the Offering price of the Securities, the pre-Offering value ascribed to the Company i1s
$25,000,000.

Before making an investment decision, you should carefully consider this valuation and the factors
used to reach such valuation. Such valuation may not be accurate and you are encouraged to
determine your own independent value of the Company prior to investing.

Ownership

100% of the company is owned by Maximum Distillery Holdings, Inc. Petros Markus Kypreos
is the 100% owner of Maximum Distillery Holdings, Inc.

Below the beneficial owners of 20% percent or more of the Company’s outstanding voting equity
securities, calculated on the basis of voting power, are listed along with the amount they own.
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Name Percentage Owned Prior to Offering

Maximum Distillery Holdings, Inc. 100%

Following the Offering, the Purchasers will own 0.04% of the Company if the Minimum Amount
is raised and 4.71% if the Maximum Amount is raised. These percentages will be diluted once the
Convertible Notes convert into shares of Common Stock upon closing of this Offering.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Please see the financial information listed on the cover page of this Form C and attached
hereto in addition to the following information. Financial statements are attached hereto as
Exhibit A.

Operations

Following the Offering, we should have enough liquidity to execute our business plan until 2025.
We intend to be profitable by June 2024. Our significant challenges are sales and growth of the
entire portfolio in a competitive spirits environment, employing affordable sales members in new
markets as we grow and controlling the continual rising cost of goods.

The Company intends to achieve profitability in the next 12 months by increasing its online sales
presence in numerous markets, hiring sales personnel in new and existing markets and continuing
to drive sales via on-premise growth.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Offering proceeds are essential to our operations. We plan to use the proceeds to expand our
sales force which is an indispensable element of our business strategy. The Offering proceeds will
have a beneficial effect on our liquidity and the Offering proceeds will be used to execute our

business strategy.

The Company does not have any additional sources of capital other than the proceeds from the
Offering.

Capital Expenditures and Other Obligations

The Company does not intend to make any material capital expenditures in the future.

Material Changes and Other Information

Trends and Uncertainties

After reviewing the above discussion of the steps the Company intends to take, potential

Purchasers should consider whether achievement of each step within the estimated time frame is
realistic in their judgment. Potential Purchasers should also assess the consequences to the
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Company of any delays in taking these steps and whether the Company will need additional
financing to accomplish them.

The financial statements arc an important part of this Form C and should be reviewed in their
entirety. The financial statements of the Company are attached hercto as Exhibit A.

THE OFFERING AND THE SECURITIES

The Offering

The Company is offering up to 247,000 Shares of Common Stock for up to $1,235,000.00. The
Company is attempting to raise a minimum amount of $10,000.00 in this Offering (the "Minimum
Amount"). The Company must receive commitments from investors in an amount totaling the
Minimum Amount by December 1, 2024 (the "Offering Deadline™) in order to receive any funds.
If the sum of the investment commitments does not equal or exceed the Minimum Amount by the
Offering Deadline, no Securities will be sold in the Offering, investment commitments will be
cancelled and committed funds will be returned to potential investors without interest or
deductions. The Company has the right to extend the Offering Deadline at its discretion. The
Company will accept investments in excess of the Minimum Amount up to $1,235,000.00 (the
"Maximum Amount") and the additional Securities will be allocated at the Company’s discretion.

The price of the Securities does not necessarily bear any relationship to the asset value, net worth,
revenues or other established criteria of value, and should not be considered indicative of the actual
value of the Securities.

In order to purchase the Securities you must make a commitment to purchase by completing the
Subscription Agreement. Purchaser funds will be held in escrow with North Capital Financial
Services until the Minimum Amount of investments is reached. Purchasers may cancel an
investment commitment until 48 hours prior to the Offering Deadline or the Closing, whichever
comes first using the cancellation mechanism provided by the Intermediary. The Company will
notify Purchasers when the Minimum Amount has been reached. If the Company reaches the
Minimum Amount prior to the Offering Deadline, it may close the Offering at least five (5) days
after reaching the Minimum Amount and providing notice to the Purchasers.

If any material change (other than reaching the Minimum Amount) occurs related to the Offering
prior to the Offering Deadline, the Company will provide notice to Purchasers and receive
reconfirmations from Purchasers who have already made commitments. If a Purchaser does not
reconfirm his or her investment commitment after a material change is made to the terms of the
Offering, the Purchaser’s investment commitment will be cancelled and the committed funds will
be returned without interest or deductions. If a Purchaser does not cancel an investment
commitment before the Minimum Amount is reached, the funds will be released to the Company
upon closing of the Offering and the Purchaser, will receive the Securities in exchange for his or
her investment. Any Purchaser funds received after the initial closing will be released to the
Company upon a subsequent closing and the Purchaser will receive Securities via Electronic
Certificate/PDF in exchange for his or her investment as soon as practicable thereafter.

In the event that $100,000 in investments is committed and received by the Escrow Agent and
more than thirty (30) days remain before the Offering Deadline, the Company may conduct the
first of multiple closings of the Offering (an “Intermediate Close™), provided all investors receive
notice that an Intermediate Close will occur and funds will be released to the Company, at least
five (5) business days prior to the Intermediate Close (absent a material change that would require
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an extension of the offering and reconfirmation of the investment commitment). Investors who
committed on or before such notice will have until 48 hours before the Intermediate Close to cancel
their investment commitment. In the event the Company does conduct the first of multiple closes,
the Company agrees to only withdraw $100,000 from escrow and will only conduct the
Intermediate Close if more than thirty (30) days remain before the Offering Deadline.

Subscription Agreements are not binding on the Company until accepted by the Company, which
reserves the right to reject, in whole or in part, in its sole and absolute discretion, any subscription.
If the Company rejects all or a portion of any subscription, the applicable prospective Purchaser’s
funds will be returned without interest or deduction.

It was an assessment of the overall valuation of the company and the amount of equity to be offered
for sale. The Company engaged a third party valuation firm to determine the price. The minimum
amount that a Purchaser may invest in the Offering is $500.00.

The Offering is being made through Title3Funds.com, the Intermediary. The following two fields
below set forth the compensation being paid in connection with the Offering.

Commission/Fees
7.0% of the amount raised in the Offering.

Stock, Warrants and Other Compensation
Securities in an amount equal to 2% of the total Securities sold in this Offering.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for the Securities is KoreConX.

The Securities
We request that you please review our organizational documents in conjunction with the following
summary information.

Authorized Capitalization

At the initial closing of this Offering (if the Minimum Amount is sold), our authorized capital
stock will consist of (1) 10,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.00001 per share, of
which 5,002,000 common shares will be issued and outstanding.

Voting and Other Rights

Holders of basic common stock have one vote per share and may vote to elect the board of directors
and on matters of corporate policy. Although shareholders have a vote, given the concentration of
ownership by the founders and management, your vote will not in all likelihood have a meaningful
impact on corporate matters. Common shareholders are entitled to receive dividends at the election
of the board and are subordinated to creditors with respeet to rights to distributions in a liquidation
scenario. In the event of liquidation, common shareholders have rights to a company’s assets only
after creditors (including noteholders, if any) and preferred shareholders and have been paid in
full in accordance with the terms of their instruments.

Dividend Rights
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Holders of common stock will share equally in any dividend declared by our board of directors, if
any, subject to the rights of the holders of any outstanding preferred stock.

The Company does not intend to issue dividends in the future.
Liguidation Rights

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs,
holders of common stock would be entitled to share ratably in the Company’s assets that are legally
available for distribution to shareholders after payment of liabilities. If the Company has any
preferred stock outstanding at such time, holders of the preferred stock may be entitled to
distribution and/or liquidation preferences. In either such case, we must pay the applicable
distribution to the holders of our preferred stock before we may pay distributions to the holders of
common stock.

Other Rights

Other than as set forth in any shareholder’s agreements and as described elsewhere herein, the
Company’s sharcholders have no preemptive or other rights to subscribe for additional shares. All
holders of our common stock are entitled to share equally on a share-for-share basis in any assets
available for distribution to common shareholders upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up.
All outstanding shares are, and all shares sold in the Offering will be, when sold, validly issued,
fully paid and non-assessable.

Voting and Control

The Securities have the following voting rights: One vote per share.

The Company does not have any voting agreements in place.

The Company does not have any shareholder/equity holder agreements in place.
Anti-Dilution Rights

The Securities do not have anti-dilution rights.

Restrictions on Transfer

Any Securities sold pursuant to Regulation CF being offered may not be transferred by any
Investor of such Securities during the one-year holding period beginning when the Securities were
issued, unless such Securities were transferred: 1) to the Company, 2) to an accredited investor, as
defined by Rule 501(d) of Regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, 3) as part of
an Offering registered with the SEC or 4) to a member of the family of the Investor or the
equivalent, to a trust controlled by the Investor, to a trust created for the benefit of a family member
of the Investor or the equivalent, or in connection with the death or divorce of the Investor or other
similar circumstances. "Member of the family" as used herein means a child, stepchild, grandchild,
parent, stepparent, grandparent, spouse or spousal equivalent, sibling,
mother/father/daughter/son/sister/brother-in-law, and includes adoptive relationships. Remember

50



that although you may legally be able to transfer the Securities, you may not be able to find another
party willing to purchase them.

Other Material Terms

The Company does not have the right to repurchase the Shares of Common Stock.
Investment Incentives

The Company will provide following investment incentives based on the investment amount:

$500
Blackland 50ml Bottle Gift Pack (set of five bottles)

$1.000
Two 750ml bottles of choice from core lineup—Blackland Vodka, Gin, Bourbon, Rye, Texas
Pecan Brown Sugar Bourbon (excludes Prairie Gold)

$10.000
Five 750ml bottles of core lien-up (Blackland Vodka, Gin, Bourbon, Rye, Texas Pecan Brown

Sugar Bourbon) -+ hat (excludes Prairie Gold)

$25.000
Six 750ml bottles of core line-up (Includes Blackland Prairie Gold Straight Bourbon Whiskey) +
hat

$50.000
Six bottle line-up (Includes Prairie Gold Straight Bourbon Whiskey) + hat + exclusive Blackland
Merchandise

$100.000
Six bottle line-up (Includes Prairie Gold Straight Bourbon Whiskey) + hat + exclusive Blackland
Merchandise + Private Tour of Distillery and flight in Barrel VIP Room with Owner

TAX MATTERS

EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT WITH HIS OR HER OWN TAX
AND ERISA ADVISOR AS TO THE PARTICULAR CONSEQUENCES TO THE
INVESTOR OF THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND SALE OF THE INVESTOR’S
SECURITIES, AS WELL AS POSSIBLE CHANGES IN THE TAX LAWS.

TO INSURE COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS IMPOSED BY THE
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE, WE INFORM YOU THAT ANY TAX STATEMENT
IN THIS FORM C CONCERNING UNITED STATES FEDERAL TAXES IS NOT
INTENDED OR WRITTEN TO BE USED, AND CANNOT BE USED, BY ANY
TAXPAYER FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING ANY TAX-RELATED PENALTIES
UNDER THE UNITED STATES INTERNAL REVENUE CODE. ANY TAX STATEMENT
HEREIN CONCERNING UNITED STATES FEDERAL TAXES WAS WRITTEN IN
CONNECTION WITH THE MARKETING OR PROMOTION OF THE
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TRANSACTIONS OR MATTERS TO WHICH THE STATEMENT RELATES. EACH
TAXPAYER SHOULD SEEK ADVICE BASED ON THE TAXPAYER’S PARTICULAR
CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISOR.

POTENTIAL INVESTORS WHO ARE NOT UNITED STATES RESIDENTS ARE
URGED TO CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE UNITED STATES
FEDERAL INCOME TAX IMPLICATIONS OF ANY INVESTMENT IN THE
COMPANY, AS WELL AS THE TAXATION OF SUCH INVESTMENT BY THEIR
COUNTRY OF RESIDENCE. FURTHERMORE, IT SHOULD BE ANTICIPATED THAT
DISTRIBUTIONS FROM THE COMPANY TO SUCH FOREIGN INVESTORS MAY BE
SUBJECT TO UNITED STATES WITHHOLDING TAX.

EACH POTENTIAL INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT HIS OR HER OWN TAX
ADVISOR CONCERNING THE POSSIBLE IMPACT OF STATE TAXES.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
Related Person Transactions

From time to time the Company may engage in transactions with related persons. Related persons
are defined as any director or officer of the Company; any person who is the beneficial owner of
10 percent or more of the Company’s outstanding voting equity securities, calculated on the basis
of voting power; any promoter of the Company; any immediate family member of any of the
foregoing persons or an entity controlled by any such person or persons.

The Company has the following transactions with related persons:

Loans
Related Person/Entity P. Markus Kypreos
Relationship to the Company Director and Officer
Total amount of money involved $4,000,000.00

Benefits or compensation received by

Rep: f the loan : ime 1 5t rate.
related person epayment of the loan at prime interest rate

Benefits or compensation received by Working capital and investment of the
Company business.

Loan was made to M Distillery, LLC, a
Description of the transaction subsidiary of the Company (please refer to the
Subsidiaries section of this Form C above).

Conflicts of Interest
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The Company has engaged in the following transactions or relationships, which may give rise to
a conflict of interest with the Company, its operations and its securityholders:

Current Business Dealings

Related Person/Entity

P. Markus Kypreos

Relationship to the Company

Director and Officer

Total amount of money involved

$4,000,000.00

Benefits or compensation received by
related person

Repayment of the loan at prime interest rate.

Benefits or compensation received by
Company

Working capital and investment of the
business.

Description of the transaction

Loan was made to M Distillery, LLC, a
subsidiary of the Company (please refer to the
Subsidiaries section of this Form C above).

OTHER INFORMATION

Bad Actor Disclosure

The Company is not subject to any Bad Actor Disqualifications under any relevant U.S. securities

laws.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 4(a)(6) and 4A of the Securities Act of 1933 and
Regulation Crowdfunding (§ 227.100 et seq.), the issuer certifies that 1t has reasonable grounds to
believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form C and has duly caused this Form to
be signed on its behalf by the duly authorized undersigned.

/s/Petros Markus Kypreos
(Signature)

Petros Markus Kypreos
(Name)

President
(Title)

Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 4(a)(6) and 4A of the Securities Act of 1933 and
Regulation Crowdfunding (§ 227.100 et seq.), this Form C has been signed by the following
persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/Petros Markus Kypreos

(Signature)

Petros Markus Kypreos
(Name)

President
(Title)

12/1/23
(Date)

Instructions.

1. The form shall be signed by the issuer, its principal executive officer or officers, its
principal financial officer, its controller or principal accounting officer and at least a majority of
the board of directors or persons performing similar functions.

2. The name of each person signing the form shall be typed or printed beneath the signature.

Intentional misstatements or omissions of facts constitute federal criminal violations. See 18
U.S.C. 1001.
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Financial Statements



M Distillery Holdings, Inc. (the “‘Company™) a Delaware Corporation

Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) and
Independent Accountant’s Review Report

Years ended December 31, 2021 & 2022



Mongio &
\ Associates CPASLLc

Tax - Accounting - Advisory

Saving Time, Money, & Stress

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REVIEW REPORT
To Management
M Distillery Holdings, Inc.

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company which comprise
the statement of financial position as of December 31, 2021 & 2022 and the related statements of operations,
statement of changes in shareholder equity, and statement of cash flows for the years then ended, and the
related notes to the financial statements. A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to
management’s financial data and making inquiries of Company management. A review is substantially less
in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial
statements as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

Accountant’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to conduct the review engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the
AICPA. Those standards require us to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as a basis for
reporting whether we are aware of any material modifications that should be made to the financial
statements for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. We believe that the results of our procedures provide a reasonable basis for our conclusion.

Accountant’s Conclusion

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the
accompanying financial statements in order for them to be in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter Regarding Going Concern

As discussed in Note 8, certain conditions indicate substantial doubt that the Company will be able to
continue as a going concern. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments that
might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. Management has
evaluated these conditions and plans to generate revenues and raise capital as needed to satisfy its capital
needs.

On behalf of Mongio and Associates CPAs, LLC
Vince Mongio, CPA, EA, CIA, CFE, MACC

Miami, FL
October 3, 2023
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Statement of Financial Position

As of December 31,

2022 2021
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 38,200 97,459
Accounts Receivable 422996 320,294
Prepaid Expenses 2.100 -
Inventory 683.595 674,579
Total Current Assets 1,146,891 1,092,333
Non-current Assets
Furniture, Equipment, and Leasehold Improvements, net of
Accumulated Depreciation 1,038,747 1,032,677
Intangible Assets: Trademark, net of Accumulated
Amortization 45 783 49 883
Right of Use Asset: Office 1.716,912 1,890,567
Security Deposits 9.817 9817
Total Non-Current Assets 2,811,259 2,982,944
TOTAL ASSETS 3,958,151 4,075,277
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilitics
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable 86,571 111,080
Interest Payable 19,437 -
Notes Payable - Related Party 3,926,449 -
Notes Payable 18,515 -
Short Term Lease Liability 174.303 97.401
Taxes Payable e 12,929
Total Current Liabilities 4,247 847 221.411
Long-term Liabilities
Notes Payable - Related Party - 3.587.884
Notes Payable 481,385 499 900
Long Term Lease Liability 1,678,831 1,853,134
Total Long-Term Liabilities 2.160.216 5,940,918
TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,408,063 6,162,329
EQUITY
Paid in Capital 1,427,107 1,066,203
Accumulated Deficit (3.877.019) (3,153,254)
Total Equity (2,449,912) (2.087,051)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 3,958,151 4,075,277




Statement of Operations

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Revenue 2,417,101 1,541,560
Cost of Revenue 909,086 B8O, 848
Gross Profit 1.508.014 660,712
Operating Expenses
Advertising and Marketing 264,999 141,696
General and Administrative 1,338,569 1,379,197
Rent and Lease 352,179 255,997
Depreciation 148,018 156,756
Amortization 4.100 4.100
Total Operating Expenses 2.107.865 1,937,746
Operating Income (loss) (599,851) (1,277.034)
Other Income
Other 11.500 82,205
Total Other Income 11,500 82,205
Other Expense
Interest Expense 135414 65.764
Total Other Expense 135414 65,764
Earnings Before Income Taxes (723,765) (1,260,593)
Provision for Income Tax Expense/(Benefit) - -
Net Income (loss) (723,765) (1.260,593)
Statement of Changes in Shareholder Equity
Common Stock
# of Total
Shares $ APIC Accumul.ated Sharcholder
Amount Deficit b
Amount Equity
Beginning Balance at 1/1/2021 . . 1,000 (1.892.661) (1.891.661)
Paid-in Capital - - 1.065.203 - 1,065,203
Net Income (Loss) - = - (1.260,593) (1.260.593)
Endin_g _Balancc 12/31/2021 - - 1,066,203 (3.153,254) (2,087,052)
Paid-in Capital - - 360,904 - 360.904
Net Income (Loss) = - - (723,765) (723,765)
Ending Balance 12/31/2022 - - 1,427,107 (3.877,019) (2.449.912)




Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Income (Loss) (723,765) (1.260,593)
Adjustments to reconcile Net Income to Net Cash provided by
operations:
Depreciation 148.018 156,756
Amortization 4,100 4,100
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses (24,509) 68,218
Interest Payable 19,437 -
Inventory (9.016) (7.676)
Accounts Receivable (102,702) (313,097)
Prepaids (2.100) (231.488)
Right of Use Asset, net of Lease Liability 76.254 59,967
Sales Tax Payvable 9.642 (193)
Total Adjustments to reconcile Net [ncome to Net Cash
provided by operations: 119,125 (263,414)
Net Cash provided by (used in) Operating Activities (604,639) (1.524.008)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Machinery, Furniture, & Leasehold Improvements (154,089) (84,508)
Security Deposit - (3,151)
Net Cash provided by (used by) Investing Activities (154,089) (87.659)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from the Issuance of Debt - 267,795
Proceeds from the Issuance of Debt - Related Parly 338,565 295,684
Proceeds from Paid-in Capital 360,904 1.065.203
Net Cash provided by (used in) Financing Activities 699,469 1,628,682
Cash at the beginning of period 097,459 80.444
Net Cash increase (decrease) for period (59,259) 17,016
Cash at end of period 38.200 97.459




M Distillery Holdings, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Unaudited Financial Statements
December 31st, 2022
SUSD

NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF ACTIVITIES

M Distillery Holdings, Inc. (“the Company™) was incorporated upon the Company’s plan to reorganize in Delaware
on March 2™, 2021, The Company was originally formed in 2018 and they opened the tasting room in March of 2019,
The Company began distribution in September of 2019, The Company is a grain to glass manufacturing distillery in
Fort Worth, Texas producing vodka, gin, bourbon, rye and Texas Pecan Brown Sugar Bourbon, The Company also
has a tasting room attached to the distillery that is open to the public Tuesday through Saturday. The Company serves
cocktails, light bites and sells bottles in the tasting room. The Company is distributed in Texas, Oklahoma, New
Mexico. Arizona, Washington, Kansas, Missouri, Arkansas, Mississippi. Georgia, and the United Kingdom. Revenue
of the business comes from distribution to bars, restaurants, and liquor/retail stores in 11 markets, as well as from the
tasting room, tours and events. The Company plans to launch their online sales platform that will allow online sales
in 45 states. The Company will continue to grow their reach and market share as their popularity and sales grow. In
addition to their market reach and overall brand awareness, the value of the company is rooted in the almost 400
gallons of whiskey aging in their distillery, their existing distribution footprint and a national sales agreement with
one of the largest alcohol distributors in the United States.

The Company will conduct a crowdfunding campaign under regulation CF in 2023 o raise operating capital.
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP™).
Owr fiscal year ends on December 31. The Company has no interest in variable interest entities and no predecessor
entities.

Basis of Consolidation

The financials of the Company include its wholly-owned subsidiaries, M Distillery Sub 1, LLC, M Distillery Sub II,
LLC, M Distillery, LLC, which are all Texas entities formed in 2021. All significant intercompany transaclions are
eliminated.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of cantingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Eqguivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash balances, and highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or
less when purchased.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

ASC 820 “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures™ establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes
the inputs in measuring fair value, The hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three levels based on the extent to which
inputs used in measuring fair value are observable in the market.



These tiers include:

Level 1: defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets;

Level 2: defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable;
and

Level 3: defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop
its own assumptions.

Concentrations of Credit Risks

The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk primarily consist of its cash and
cash equivalents. The Company places its cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions of high credit
worthiness. The Company’s management plans to assess the financial strength and credit worthiness of any parties to

which it extends funds, and as such, it believes that any associated credit risk exposures are limited.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of products and services in accordance with ASC 606, “Revenue
Recognition™ following the five steps procedure:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with customers

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to performance obligations

Step 5: Recognize revenue when or as performance obligations are satisfied

The Company’s primary performance obligation is the delivery of products. Revenue is recognized at the time of
shipment, net of estimated returns. Coincident with revenue recognition, the Company establishes a liability for
expected returns and records an asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) for its right to recover products
from customers on settling the refund liability.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Expenditures for renewals and improvements that significantly add to
the productive capacity or extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs
are charged to expense. When equipment is retired or sold, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are
eliminated from the accounts and the resultant gain or loss is reflected in income. Depreciation is provided using the
straight-line method, based on useful lives of the assets.

The Company reviews the carrying value of property and equipment for impairment whenever events and
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable from the estimated future cash flows
expected to result from its use and eventual disposition. In cases where undiscounted expected future cash flows are
less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized equal to an amount by which the carrying value exceeds
the fair value of assets. The factors considered by management in performing this assessment include current operating
results, trends and prospects, the manner in which the property is used, and the effects of obsolescence, demand,
competition, and other economic factors. Based on this assessment there was no impairment for December 31, 2022,

A summary ol the Company’s properly and equipment is below.



Proverte Toue Useful Life in Cast Accumulated Disiosals Book Value as
perty “yp Years Depreciation P of 12/31/22
Machinery & Equipment 7 520,370 (265,279) - 255.091
Furniture & Fixtures 7 59,895 (18.614) - 41,281
Computer Equipment 5 41,234 (30,693) - 10,541
Leasehold Improvements 15-40 929,028 (197,194) - 731.834
Grand Total - 1,550,527 (511,780) - 1,038,747
Intangible Assets
A summary of the Company's intangible assets is below.
Useful Life in Accumulated : Book Value as
EEURREL R Years ot Amortization | DSPOsals | o 3122
Web Design 15 4,000 (1,022) - 2,978
Trademarks 15 57,500 (14,695) - 42,805
Grand Total - 61,500 (15,717) - 45,783

Accounts Receivable

Trade receivables due from customers are uncollateralized customer obligations due under normal trade terms. Trade
receivables are stated al the amount billed to the customer. Payments of trade receivables are allocated to the specific
invoices identified on the customer's remittance advice or, if unspecified, are applied to the earliest unpaid invoices.
Payments are generally collected upfront, but some of the merchants that products are sold through have a delay
between collecting from the customer and sending to the Company.

The Company estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon an evaluation of the current status of
receivables, historical experience. and other factors as necessary. It is reasonably possible that the Company’s estimate
of the allowance for doubtful accounts will change.

Inventory

The Company had an inventory balance of $683,595 as of December 317, 2022, The inventory is valued using the
weighted average cost method of accounting.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs associated with marketing the Company’s products and services are generally expensed as costs are
incurred.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist of payroll and related expenses for employees and independent
contractors involved in general corporate functions, including accounting, finance, tax, legal, business development,
and other miscellaneous expenses.

Other Income

The Company recognized other income of $82,205 in 2021 from the forgiveness of a PPP loan. The Company
recognized other income of $11,500 in 2022 from a count grant.



Equity Based Compensation

The Company did not have any equity-based compensation as of December 31, 2022,
Income Taxes

The Company was a pass-through entity for the years presented (S Corporation) therefore any income tax expense or
benefit is the responsibility of the company’s owners. As such, no provision for income tax is recognized on the
Statement of Operations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The FASB issues ASUs to amend the authoritative literature in ASC. There have been a number of ASUs to date that
amend the original text of ASC. Management believes that those issued to date either (i) provide supplemental
guidance, (11) are technical corrections, (iii) are not applicable to us or (iv) are not expected to have a significant impact
on our financial statements.

NOTE 3 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company follows ASC 850, “Related Party Disclosures,” for the identification of related parties and disclosure
of related party transactions.

The Company was loaned $3,926,449 from a related party. The loan does not accrue interest and is due on demand.
The balance was 53,926,449 as of December 31%, 2022,

NOTE 4 - COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES, COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

We are currently not involved with or know of any pending or threatening litigation against the Company or any of
its officers. Further, the Company is currently complying with all relevant laws and regulations.

The Corporation leases its office space under a 7-year operating lease requiring monthly payments of $22,000. The
current lease expires on April 1%, 2024, and is cancelable upon one month’s prior written notice. There is a right for
the corporation to extend the lease for an additional 5 years through 2029 and then an additional two years ending in
2031.

Year Ending
2022-12

Other Information
(Gains) losses on sale-leaseback transactions, net *
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Operating cash flows from finance leases (i.e. Interest) -
Financing cash flows from finance leases (i.c. principal portion) -
Operating cash flows from operating leases 278,154
ROU assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities -
ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities 2,004,776
Weighted-average remaining lease term in years for finance leases -
Weighted-average remaining lease term in years for operating leases 8.33
Weighted-average discount rate for finance leases 0%
Weighted-average discount rate for operating leases 3.75%



Maturity Analysis Finance Operating

2023-12 - 240,402
2024-12 - 264,000
2025-12 - 264,000
2026-12 - 264,000
2027-12 - 264,000
Thereafter - 858,000
Total undiscounted cash flows - 2,154,402
Less: present value discount - (301,268)
Total lease liabilities - 1,853,134

NOTE 5 - LIABILITIES AND DEBT

The Company entered into an SBA loan totaling $500,000 in 2020. The loan accrues interest at 3.75% and is due in
2050. The balance of the loan was $499.900 as of December 31%, 2022,

See Note 3 — Related Party Transactions for details of related party loan.

Debt Principal Maturities 5
Years Subsequent to 2022

Year Amount
2023 3,944 9064
2024 18,515
2025 18,515
2026 18,515
2027 18,515
Thereatter 407,326

NOTE 6 - EQUITY

The Company has authorized 10,000,000 common shares with a par value of $0.00001 per share. No shares were
formally issued and outstanding as of 2021 and 2022. The Company is under the control of its CEO.

Voting: Common stockholders are entitled to one vote per share,

Dividends: The holders of common stock are entitled to receive dividends when and if declared by the Board of
Directors.

NOTE 7-SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company has evaluated events subsequent to December 31, 2022 to assess the nced for potential recognition or
disclosure in this report. Such cvents were evaluated through October 3, 2023, the date these financial statements were
available to be issued. No events require recognition or disclosure,



NOTE 8 - GOING CONCERN

The accompanying balance sheet has been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of
assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The entity has realized losses every year since
inception, incurred negative working capital and cash flows from operations, and may continue to generate losses.

During the next twelve months, the Company intends to finance its operations with funds from a crowdfunding
campaign and revenue producing activities. The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the next twelve
months following the date the financial statements were available to be issued is dependent upon its ability to produce
revenues and/or obtain financing sufficient to meet current and future obligations and deploy such to produce
profitable operating results. Management has evaluated these conditions and plans to generate revenues and raise
capital as needed to satisfy its capital needs. No assurance can be given that the Company will be successful in these
efforts. These factors, among others, raise substantial doubt about the ability of the Company to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period of time. The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the
recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities.



EXHIBIT B

Video Transcript



EXHIBIT B
Transciprt of Brand Video (2:14 runtime)
Markus Kypreos Narrator:
Blackland is a distillery in Texas making spirits from grain to glass.
We cook it, we ferment it, we distill it...everything we do is at a really high, ultra-premium level.

Most people focus on one spirit. We focus on five. Vodka, Gin, Bourbon, Rye and Texas Pecan Brown
Sugar Bourbon.

It’s the diversification of the brand because taste is subjective, palates are subjective.

But at the end of the day vodka is meant as a vehicle for whatever cocktail you're drinking. So vodka
should be clean and pure, it should be almost tasteless.

The Gin is my pride and joy. It's very soft and not overly assertive on the palate—I think we're becoming
known for our gin; | think the best thing we make.

The bourbon and the Rye also very soft, very easy to drink. The Bourbon’s a little sweeter, the Rye’s a
little spicier. We tried to make these to appeal to a broad audience.

And then lastly the Texas Pecan Brown Sugar Bourbon—and | said ok well if we're going to make a sugar
whiskey, let's make a sugar whiskey that A) tastes good and that uses really good ingredients in the
process.

Quality ingredients are important. Because we make five spirits, we can cultivate a really incredible
cocktail menu around those spirits. There's nothing more sophsiticated than the cocktail. But
everything we make is clean, everything we make is guality, everything we make is soft, and everything
we make tastes really good.

A lot of people know us for the bar, but a lot of people know us just because we’re on so many liquor
store shelves. | can walk into a bar, or a restaurant or a hotel.

We're here to support Fort Worth and we’re here to support Texas and anyone who carries Blackland
spirits.

It’s the overall experience. It’s a great spot to come in before or after dinner, but for us it’s education
and it's teaching you about the brand and all of that together just works.
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Subscription Agreement

THE SECURITIES ARE BEING OFFERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 4(A)(6) OF THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 (THE "SECURITIES ACT") AND HAVE NOT BEEN
REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY
STATE OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION. THERE ARE FURTHER RESTRICTIONS ON
THE TRANSFERABILITY OF THE SECURITIES DESCRIBED HEREIN.

THE PURCHASE OF THE SECURITIES INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK AND
SHOULD BE CONSIDERED ONLY BY PERSONS WHO CAN BEAR THE RISK OF THE
LOSS OF THEIR ENTIRE INVESTMENT.

M Distillery Holdings, Inc.
2616 Weisenberger Street
Fort Worth, TX 76107

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned understands that M Distillery Holdings, Inc. , a corporation organized under the
laws of Delaware (the “Company™), is offering up to $1,235,000.00 of Shares of Common Stock
(the “*Securities™) in a Regulation CF Offering. This Offering is made pursuant to the Form C,
dated December 1, 2023 (the "Form C"). The undersigned further understands that the Offering is
being made pursuant to Section 4(a)(6) of the Securities Act and Regulation CF under the JOBS
Act of 2012 and without registration of the Securities under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the "Securities Act").

1. Subscription. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof and the provisions of the Form C, the
undersigned hereby irrevocably subscribes for the Securities set forth on the signature page hereto
for the aggregate purchase price set forth on the signature page hereto, which is payable as
described in Section 4 hereof. The undersigned acknowledges that the Securities will be subject to
restrictions on transfer as set forth in this subscription agreement (the "Subscription Agreement”).

2. Acceptance of Subscription and Issuance of Securities. It is understood and agreed that the
Company shall have the sole right, at its complete discretion, to accept or reject this subscription,
in whole or in part, for any reason and that the same shall be deemed to be accepted by the
Company only when it is signed by a duly authorized officer of the Company and delivered to the
undersigned at the Closing referred to in Section 3 hereof. Subscriptions need not be accepted in
the order received, and the Securities may be allocated among subscribers.

3. The Closing. The closing of the purchase and sale of the Securities (the "Closing") shall take
place at 11:59 p.m. New York time on December 1, 2024, or at such other time and place as the
Company may designate by notice to the undersigned.

4. Payment for Securities. Payment for the Securities shall be received by North Capital Private
Securities Corporation (the “Escrow Facilitator”™) from the undersigned by wire transfer of
immediately available funds or other means approved by the Company at least two (2) days prior
to the Closing, in the amount as set forth on the signature page hereto. Upon the Closing, the
Escrow Facilitator shall release such funds to the Company. The undersigned shall receive notice
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and evidence of the entry of the number of Securities owned by undersigned reflected on the books
and records of the Company and verified by KoreConX (the “Transfer Agent™), which shall bear
a notation that the Securities were sold in reliance upon an exemption from registration under the
Securities Act.

5. Representations and Warranties of the Company. As of the Closing, the Company represents
and warrants that:

a) The Company is duly formed and validly existing under the laws of Delaware, with full power
and authority to conduct its business as it is currently being conducted and to own its assets; and
has secured any other authorizations, approvals, permits and orders required by law for the conduct
by the Company of its business as it is currently being conducted.

b) The Securities have been duly authorized and, when issued, delivered and paid for in the manner
set forth in this Subscription Agreement, will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and
will conform in all material respects to the description thereof set forth in the Form C.

¢) The execution and delivery by the Company of this Subscription Agreement and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (including the issuance, sale and delivery
of the Securities) are within the Company’s powers and have been duly authorized by all necessary
corporate action on the part of the Company. Upon full execution hereof, this Subscription
Agreement shall constitute a valid and binding agreement of the Company, enforceable against the
Company in accordance with its terms, except (i) as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium, and other laws of general application affecting enforcement of
creditors’ rights generally, (i1) as limited by laws relating to the availability of specific
performance, injunctive relief, or other equitable remedies and (ii1) with respect to provisions
relating to indemnification and contribution, as limited by considerations of public policy and by
federal or securities, "blue sky" or other similar laws of such jurisdiction (collectively referred to
as the "State Securities Laws").

d) Assuming the accuracy of the undersigned’s representations and warranties set forth in Section
6 hereof, no order, license, consent, authorization or approval of, or exemption by, or action by or
in respect of, or notice to, or filing or registration with, any governmental body, agency or official
1s required by or with respect to the Company in connection with the execution, delivery and
performance by the Company of this Subscription Agreement except (i) for such filings as may be
required under Regulation CF promulgated under the Securities Act, or under any applicable State
Securities Laws, (i1) for such other filings and approvals as have been made or obtained, or (ii1)
where the failure to obtain any such order, license, consent, authorization, approval or exemption
or give any such notice or make any filing or registration would not have a material adverse effect
on the ability of the Company to perform its obligations hereunder.

6. Representations and Warranties of the Undersigned. The undersigned hereby represents and
warrants to and covenants with the Company that:

a) General,

i. The undersigned has all requisite authority (and in the case of an individual, the capacity) to
purchase the Securities, enter into this Subscription Agreement and to perform all the obligations
required to be performed by the undersigned hereunder, and such purchase will not contravene any
law, rule or regulation binding on the undersigned or any investment guideline or restriction
applicable to the undersigned.



il. The undersigned is a resident of the state set forth on the signature page hereto and is not
acquiring the Securities as a nominee or agent or otherwise for any other person.

iii. The undersigned will comply with all applicable laws and regulations in effect in any
jurisdiction in which the undersigned purchases or sells Securitics and obtain any consent,
approval or permission required for such purchases or sales under the laws and regulations of any
jurisdiction to which the undersigned is subject or in which the undersigned makes such purchases
or sales, and the Company shall have no responsibility therefor.

iv. Including the amount set forth on the signature page hereto, in the past twelve (12) month
period, the undersigned has not exceeded the investment limit as set forth in Rule 100(a)(2) of
Regulation CF.

b) Information Concerning the Company.

1. The undersigned has received a copy of the Form C. With respect to information provided by
the Company, the undersigned has relied solely on the information contained in the Form C to
make the decision to purchase the Securities.

il. The undersigned understands and accepts that the purchase of the Securities involves various
risks, including the risks outlined in the Form C and in this Subscription Agreement. The
undersigned represents that it is able to bear any and all loss associated with an investment in the
Securities.

iii. The undersigned confirms that it is not relying and will not rely on any communication (written
or oral) of the Company, Title3Funds.com, or any of their respective affiliates, as investment
advice or as a recommendation to purchase the Securities. It is understood that information and
explanations related to the terms and conditions of the Securities provided in the Form C or
otherwise by the Company, Title3Funds or any of their respective affiliates shall not be considered
investment advice or a recommendation to purchase the Securities, and that neither the Company,
Title3Funds.com nor any of their respective affiliates is acting or has acted as an advisor to the
undersigned in deciding to invest in the Securities. The undersigned acknowledges that neither the
Company, Title3Funds.com nor any of their respective affiliates have made any representation
regarding the proper characterization of the Securities for purposes of determining the
undersigned’s authority or suitability to invest in the Securities.

iv. The undersigned is familiar with the business and financial condition and operations of the
Company, all as generally described in the Form C. The undersigned has had access to such
information concerning the Company and the Securities as it deems necessary to enable it to make
an informed investment decision concerning the purchase of the Securities.

v. The undersigned understands that, unless the undersigned notifies the Company in writing to
the contrary at or before the Closing, each of the undersigned’s representations and warranties
contained in this Subscription Agreement will be deemed to have been reaffirmed and confirmed
as of the Closing, taking into account all information received by the undersigned.

vi. The undersigned acknowledges that the Company has the right in its sole and absolute
discretion to abandon this Offering at any time prior to the completion of the Offering. This
Subscription Agreement shall thereafter have no force or effect and the Company shall return any
previously paid subscription price of the Securities, without interest thereon, to the undersigned.



viil. The undersigned understands that no federal or state agency has passed upon the merits or risks
of an investment in the Securities or made any finding or determination concerning the fairness or
advisability of this investment.

¢) No Guaranty.

i. The undersigned confirms that the Company has not (A) given any guarantee or representation
as to the potential success, return, effect or benefit (either legal, regulatory, tax, financial,
accounting or otherwise) an of investment in the Securities or (B) made any representation to the
undersigned regarding the legality of an investment in the Securities under applicable legal
investment or similar laws or regulations. In deciding to purchase the Securities, the undersigned
is not relying on the advice or recommendations of the Company and the undersigned has made
its own independent decision that the investment in the Securities is suitable and appropriate for
the undersigned.

d) Status of Undersigned.

i. The undersigned has such knowledge, skill and experience in business, financial and investment
matters that the undersigned is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the
Securities. With the assistance of the undersigned’s own professional advisors, to the extent that
the undersigned has deemed appropriate, the undersigned has made its own legal, tax, accounting
and financial evaluation of the merits and risks of an investment in the Securitics and the
consequences of this Subscription Agreement. The undersigned has considered the suitability of
the Securities as an investment in light of its own circumstances and financial condition and the
undersigned is able to bear the risks associated with an investment in the Securities and its authority
to invest in the Securities.

e) Restrictions on Transfer or Sale of Securities.

1. The undersigned is acquiring the Securities solely for the undersigned’s own beneficial account,
for investment purposes, and not with a view to, or for resale in connection with, any distribution
of the Securities. The undersigned understands that the Securities have not been registered under
the Securities Act or any State Securities Laws by reason of specific exemptions under the
provisions thereof which depend in part upon the investment intent of the undersigned and of the
other representations made by the undersigned in this Subscription Agreement. The undersigned
understands that the Company is relying upon the representations and agreements contained in this
Subscription Agreement (and any supplemental information) for the purposc of determining
whether this transaction meets the requirements for such exemptions.

il. The undersigned understands that the Securities are restricted from transfer for a period of time
under applicable federal securities laws and that the Securities Act and the rules of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") provide in substance that the
undersigned may dispose of the Securities only pursuant to an effective registration statement
under the Securities Act, an exemption therefrom or as further described in Rule 501 of Regulation
CF, after which certain state restrictions may apply. The undersigned understands that the
Company has no obligation or intention to register any of the Securities, or to take action so as to
permit sales pursuant to the Securities Act. Even when the Securities become freely transferrable,
a secondary market in the Securitics may not develop. Consequently, the undersigned understands
that the undersigned must bear the economic risks of the investment in the Securities for an
indefinite period of time.

iii. The undersigned agrees that the undersigned will not sell, assign, pledge, give, transfer or
otherwise dispose of the Securities or any interest therein, or make any offer or attempt to do any
of the foregoing, except pursuant to Rule 501 of Regulation CF.
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7. Conditions to Obligations of the Undersigned and the Company. The obligations of the
undersigned to purchase and pay for the Securities specified on the signature page hereto and of
the Company to sell the Securities are subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the Closing of the
following conditions precedent: the representations and warranties of the Company contained in
Section 5 hereof and of the undersigned contained in Section 6 hereof shall be true and correct as
of the Closing in all respects with the same effect as though such representations and warranties
had been made as of the Closing.

8. Obligations Irrevecable. Following the Closing, the obligations of the undersigned shall be
irrevocable.

9. Legend. The certificates, book entry or other form of notation representing the Securities sold
pursuant to this Subscription Agreement will be notated with a legend or designation, which
communicates in some manner that the Securities were issued pursuant to Section 4(a)(6) of the
Securities Act and may only be resold pursuant to Rule 501 of Regulation CF.

10. Waiver, Amendment. Neither this Subscription Agreement nor any provisions hereof shall
be modified, changed, discharged or terminated except by an instrument in writing, signed by the
party against whom any waiver, change, discharge or termination is sought.

11. Assignability. Neither this Subscription Agreement nor any right, remedy, obligation or
liability arising hercunder or by reason hercof shall be assignable by either the Company or the
undersigned without the prior written consent of the other party.

12. Waiver of Jury Trial. THE UNDERSIGNED IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL
RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING
ouT OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS SUBSCRIPTION
AGREEMENT.

13. Submission to Jurisdiction. With respect to any suit, action or proceeding relating to any
offers, purchases or sales of the Securities by the undersigned ("Proceedings"), the undersigned
irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the federal or state courts located in the State of Delaware,
which submission shall be exclusive unless none of such courts has lawful jurisdiction over such
Proceedings.

14. Governing Law. This Subscription Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to conflict of law principles
thereof.

15. Section and Other Headings. The section and other headings contained in this Subscription
Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of
this Subscription Agreement.

16. Counterparts. This Subscription Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts,
each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed to be an original and all of which

together shall be deemed to be one and the same agreement.

17. Notices. All notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall
be deemed to have been duly given if delivered personally or sent by registered or certified mail,
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return receipt requested, postage prepaid or email to the following addresses (or such other address
as either party shall have specified by notice in writing to the other):

M Distillery Holdings, Inc.

2616 Weisenberger Street

Fort Worth, TX 76107

Attn: P. Markus Kypreos

Email: markus@blacklanddistilling.com

If to the Company:

[PURCHASER ADDRESS]
If to the Purchaser: [PURCHASE E-MAIL]

18. Binding Effect. The provisions of this Subscription Agreement shall be binding upon and
accrue to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, legal representatives,
successors and assigns.

19. Survival. All representations, warranties and covenants contained in this Subscription
Agreement shall survive (1) the acceptance of the subscription by the Company, (i1) changes in the
transactions, documents and instruments described in the Form C which are not material or which
arc to the benefit of the undersigned and (iii) the death or disability of the undersigned.

20. Notification of Changes. The undersigned hereby covenants and agrees to notify the Company
upon the occurrence of any event prior to the closing of the purchase of the Securities pursuant to
this Subscription Agreement, which would cause any representation, warranty, or covenant of the
undersigned contained in this Subscription Agreement to be false or incorrect.

21. Severability. If any term or provision of this Subscription Agreement is invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any
other term or provision of this Subscription Agreement or invalidate or render unenforceable such
term or provision in any other jurisdiction.

22. FElectronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver this
Subscription Agreement, any documents related to this Subscription Agreement or any notices
required by applicable law or the Company's Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws by email or
any other electronic means pursuant to Section 232 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (or
any successor thereto). The undersigned hereby consents to (i) conduct business electronically,
(ii) receive such documents and notices by such electronic delivery, and (iii) sign documents
electronically and the undersigned hereby agrees to participate in communications, document
access and delivery, transfers, exchange or resales of securities and any other corporate
transactions (consistent with applicable law) through any on-line or electronic system established
and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Subscription Agreement this [DAY]
OF [MONTH], [YEAR].

PURCHASER (if an individual):

By
Name:

PURCHASER (if an entity):

Legal Name of Entity

By
Name:
Title:

State/Country of Domicile or Formation:

The offer to purchase Securities as set forth above is confirmed and accepted by the Company as
to [AMOUNT OF SECURITIES TO BE ACQUIRED BY PURCHASER] for [TOTAL
AMOUNT TO BE PAID BY PURCHASER].

M Distillery Holdings, Inc.

By
Name: P. Markus Kypreos
Title: President




